Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

CrowdGather, Inc.
Form 10-K
January 10, 2017

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

x ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the fiscal year ended April 30. 2016

" TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 000-52143

CrowdGather. Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Nevada 20-2706319
(State or other jurisdiction of

) . . (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
incorporation or organization)

23945 Calabasas Rd. Suite 115
Calabasas. California

(Address of principal executive
offices)

91302

(Zip Code)



Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

(818) 435-2472
(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

Securities registered under Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class registered: Name of each exchange on which registered:
None None

Securities registered under Section 12(g) of the Act:

Common Stock. Par Value $.001
(Title of Class)

Indicate by check mark if registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. "Yes xNo

Indicate by check mark if registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act. "Yes xNo

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. x Yes ~ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if
any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§
229.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit and post such files). x Yes * No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. x



Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated file, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or
a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ~ Accelerated filer ~
Non-accelerated filer ™ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). "Yes xNo

State the aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates computed by
reference to the price at which the common equity was sold, or the average bid and asked price of such common
equity, as of the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter. As of October 31,
2015, approximately $4,801,000.

As of December 6, 2016, there were 130,536,572 shares of the issuer’s $.001 par value common stock issued and
outstanding.

Documents incorporated by reference. There are no annual reports to security holders, proxy information statements,
or any prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424 of the Securities Act of 1933 incorporated herein by reference.



Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

TABLE OF CONTENTS
PAGE
PART 1
Item 1. Description of Business 3
Item 1A.Risk Factors 7
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 18
Item 2. Properties 18
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 18
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 19
PART II
Item 5. Market for Common Equity. Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 19
Item 6. Selected Financial Data 21
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation 22
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 28
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 28
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 62
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 62
Item 9B. Other Information 64
PART II1
Item 10. Directors. Executive Officers. Promoters and Corporate Governance 64
Item 11. Executive Compensation 66
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Item 12. 68
Matters
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions. and Director Independence 70
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 70
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 71
2



Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

PART I

Forward-Looking Information

This Annual Report of CrowdGather, Inc. on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements, particularly those
identified with the words, “anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “plans,” “intends,” “objectives” and similar
expressions. These statements reflect management’s best judgment based on factors known at the time of such
statements. The reader may find discussions containing such forward-looking statements in the material set forth
under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Plan of Operations,” generally, and specifically therein under
the captions “Liquidity and Capital Resources” as well as elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Actual
events or results may differ materially from those discussed herein. The forward-looking statements specified in the
following information have been compiled by our management on the basis of assumptions made by management and
considered by management to be reasonable. Our future operating results, however, are impossible to predict and no
representation, guaranty, or warranty is to be inferred from those forward-looking statements. The assumptions used
for purposes of the forward-looking statements specified in the following information represent estimates of future
events and are subject to uncertainty as to possible changes in economic, legislative, industry, and other
circumstances. As a result, the identification and interpretation of data and other information and their use in
developing and selecting assumptions from and among reasonable alternatives require the exercise of judgment. To
the extent that the assumed events do not occur, the outcome may vary substantially from anticipated or projected
results, and, accordingly, no opinion is expressed on the achievability of those forward-looking statements. No
assurance can be given that any of the assumptions relating to the forward-looking statements specified in the
following information are accurate, and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements.

”» €

Item 1. Description of Business.

LT3

Our Background. CrowdGather, Inc. formerly WestCoast Golf Experiences, Inc., (the “Company,” “we” or

“CrowdGather”) was incorporated in the State of Nevada on April 20, 2005.

On April 2, 2008, the Company, General Mayhem LLC (“General”) and the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary,
General Mayhem Acquisition Corp. (the “Acquisition Subsidiary”), closed the agreement and plan of merger, pursuant
to which General merged into the Acquisition Subsidiary, with the Acquisition Subsidiary surviving, and each share
of General was converted into and became one (1) share, such that former members of General were issued
26,000,000, or approximately 64.9%;, of the outstanding shares at that time. Immediately thereafter, the Acquisition
Subsidiary merged with and into the Company, with the Company surviving, and the Company changed its name to
CrowdGather, Inc.
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On May 19, 2014, we closed the Agreement and Plan of Merger with Plaor, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Plaor”) and
our wholly-owned subsidiary, Plaor Acquisition Corp., pursuant to which Plaor Acquisition Corp. merged with Plaor
and Plaor survived as our wholly-owned subsidiary (“Merger”). Pursuant to the Merger, the shareholders of Plaor
received 55,075,800 shares of common stock of CrowdGather .

Recent Developments.

On March 18, 2016, we sold our subsidiary Plaor, Inc. (“Plaor”) to Native Games America, LLC (“NGA”). The terms
outlined included a cash payment of $200,000, the assumption of approximately $1,800,000 of CrowdGather, Inc
debt, approximately $500,000 of Plaor, Inc. debt. The balance, approximately $974,000, is in the form of deferred
payments beginning May 2017 in six equal monthly payments. Total consideration offered was in aggregate
$3,500,000. At close of the transaction on March 18, 2016, NGA assumed $1,848,000 of debt and accrued interest,
$589,000 of outstanding liabilities and made cash payments of $200,000 to the Company and cash payments on behalf
of Ploar to settle liabilities of $284,000. The balance was note receivable of $731,000. Based on discussion with the
management of NGA we impaired the balance in note receivable on our balance sheet to $0. See Note 4 of the
financial statements.

The Company was current in all of its filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission through April, 2016 and
on October 31, 2016, the Company filed a Form 15-12G terminating its filing requirements with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Our Business. CrowdGather operates a media network of forum and online communities focused on a broad number
of vertical interests, as well as social casino games. Following the merger with Plaor we began to operate a social
casino game available free to play on Facebook, iOS, and Android. Subsequent to the sale of our Plaor subsidiary, we
are no longer active in the gaming sector. We continue to focus on pursuing opportunities to improve and increase
monetization of our consolidated media network as well as opportunities to evolve our holdings by focusing more on
the cannabis vertical which will allow for us to have more predictable growth due to the rate at which this segment of
the economy is growing. We initially entered the digital cannabis space with the acquisition of WeedTracker.com, an
online community forum dedicated to the cannabis industry in 2015. Going forward, we will launch other cannabis
communities as well as leveraging our existing free forum building software to allow users to create their own
cannabis themed communities. In this way we will continue the initial mission CrowdGather was formed for which
was to ‘gather’ a large crowd of online enthusiasts, but with an emphasis on moving away from the diverse verticals we
currently service so that we can gain significant leverage by focusing primarily on the online cannabis space.
Additionally, when funding permits it, we intend to ‘gather’ the crowd offline through the launch of cannabis themes
coworking spaces beginning when our current lease is up in November 2016. By consolidating all of our efforts into
the burgeoning cannabis vertical, we hope to generate enough free cash flow to then leverage our capital into other
attractive cannabis related acquisitions and opportunities.
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Our forum business specializes in monetizing a network of online forums and message boards designed to engage,
provide information to and build community around users. We are in the process of building what we hope will
become an important social, advertising and user generated content network by consolidating existing groups of
online users who post on message boards and forums. Our goal is to create superb user experiences for forum
communities and world class service offerings for forum owners. We believe that the communities built around
message boards and forums are one of the most dynamic sources of information available on the web because forums
are active communities built around interest and information exchange on specific topics.

Our network is comprised of two types of forum communities: branded and hosted communities that are built on one
of our forum hosting platforms. The branded communities, such as Pocketables.com and Digishoptalk.com, are
wholly owned by us and we monetize them through a combination of text and display ads. The hosted communities
comprise the majority of our revenues, traffic, and page views, and are built upon one of our leading forum hosting
platforms - Yuku.com and Freeforums.org. We monetize the web traffic on these sites through a combination of
Internet advertising mediums at our discretion in exchange for providing free software, support and hosting. In some
instances, we may derive subscription revenues in lieu of or in addition to advertising revenue because the site
administrator has decided to pay monthly fees in exchange for providing an ad-free experience and other services for
their members. Our goal is to ultimately build an advertising network that allows us to leverage the targeted
demographics of the combined network in order to generate the highest advertising rates for all of our member sites.

Our Community of Online Forums. Our forum community connects what we believe is a robust and vibrant
network of people sharing their questions, expertise and experiences. We hope that this collection of forums will help
users easily access relevant, dynamic, and compelling user-generated content, conversations and commerce.
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Digital Cannabis. We strive to operate in the rapidly evolving and highly regulated cannabis industry that, as has
been estimated by some, will exceed $30 billion by the year 2020. Historically, we have been and will continue to be
aggressive in executing acquisitions and other opportunities that we believe will benefit us in the long-term. Going
forward, we intend to refine our focus towards adding more digital cannabis related assets to our portfolio while also
developing a cannabis coworking business where we will offer flexible office rental plans to entrepreneurs focused on
building and growing their cannabis related businesses.

In April, 2015 we acquired an online discussion community—WeedTracker.com— devoted to users and vendors in the
cannabis sector. As a discussion site that in no way deals with the sales of cannabis, we believe weedtracker.com is

not engaged in activities which violate Federal law. WeedTracker has been in operation longer than most major
cannabis sites currently operating. As such, it has registrations from many of the earliest participants in the cannabis
sector. We believe that this database of users, the brand equity in the name, and the thousands of images and posts
already contained within the site can all add up to building a powerful presence in this nascent sector.

Difficulties in obtaining finances have delayed our plans to relaunch WeedTracker.com, but management believes that
a new, mobile implementation of this site will be ready in early calendar 2017. At present, CrowdGather is in
discussions with several technology development agencies who seek to partner with us on revising WeedTracker. As
part of these discussions, we may ultimately sell majority interest in WeedTracker in order to accelerate its
development and growth without having to increase our cost structure.

At present, our lack of financial resources has required management to put on hold its plans for a cannabis coworking
space to open in early 2017. Our focus instead will be on generating maximum leverage from all of our assets in a
way that is cost effective and allows for us to put our exclusive focus on the cannabis opportunity.

Revenues. We derive revenue principally from the sale of Internet advertising and sponsorships, as well as from
subscription services on free forum hosting platforms and e-commerce. The Internet is an attractive forum for certain
advertisers, depending on the number of users we have and a variety of other factors. Internet advertising spending
continues to increase on an annual basis. We believe that significant revenues can be generated from online
advertising both for our Company-owned sites as well as on a commission sales basis for our third-party network
sites.

Plaor generated revenue from Mega Fame Casino through the sale of virtual currency to players that they may
exchange to play at any of our online slot machines, video poker machines, Hold’em style poker tables, or for other
features and experiences available within Mega Fame Casino. Players can pay for our virtual currency using Facebook
local currency payments when playing our games through Facebook and can use other payment methods such as
credit cards or PayPal on other platforms. Mega Fame Casino currently had nearly 14,000 daily active users at the
time of the sale of Plaor, Inc to Native Games America.
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Sales, Marketing and Distribution. We intend to pursue direct sales with advertisers interested in exposing their
products or services to our forum populations on a targeted basis. We will work not only with direct advertisers, but
also advertising networks as represented by intermediaries. A key component of our strategy will be to customize
advertising programs that are directly relevant to an advertiser, while not at odds with our online communities. We
will also allow for direct personalized advertising sales to the members of our respective forum communities who
wish to market their products or services to their fellow members.

We hope to develop a widely recognized brand, which will enable us to attract, retain, and more deeply engage users,
forum owners, advertisers, publishers, and developers. We believe a great brand begins with a great product, services,
and content. We focus on each step of product and services development, deployment, and management and content
design to understand our offerings and how best to market them to our communities of potential and existing users.
We hope to use online advertising, and leverage our online network and our distribution partnerships to market our
products and services to the right people at the right time. With continued investment in brand and product marketing,
we believe we can continue to attract and engage users, advertisers, publishers, and developers.

10
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Competition. We operate in the Internet products, services, and content markets, which are highly competitive and
characterized by rapid change, converging technologies, and increasing competition from companies offering
communication, information, and entertainment services integrated into other products and media properties.

We compete for users, advertisers, publishers, and developers with many other providers of online services, including
Web businesses where expertise in a particular market segment may provide a competitive advantage and with social
media and networking competitors. Ad networks which create specialized marketing solutions for specific advertiser

or publishers segments, also compete with us for a share of marketing budgets.

We compete with companies to attract users and developers as well as attract advertisers and publishers to our forums.
The principal competitive factors relating to attracting and retaining users include the usefulness, accessibility,
integration, and personalization of the forums that we offer and the overall user experience on our sites.

Currently, there are a number of other companies that provide similar offerings to ours in both the digital and cannabis
coworking domains. Companies like WeedMaps.com and MassRoots have much larger user bases than our
WeedTracker, but we believe the sector is still in its early emerging stages and that plenty of opportunities abound for
us as well as future entrants to this market.

Over time, our competitors may be local or international enterprises and may have financial, technical, sales,
marketing and other resources greater than ours. These companies may also compete with us in recruiting and
retaining qualified personnel and consultants.

Our competitive position will depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified advisors with industry depth, and
talented managerial, operational and other personnel. Our competitive position will also depend on our ability to
develop and acquire effective digital assets in parallel with securing profitable locations for our coworking spaces.

Many of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, more industry experience, larger
customer or user bases, greater brand recognition and significantly greater financial, marketing and other resources
than we do. We may not be able to compete with either the large or mid-sized companies. We are also at a significant
competitive disadvantage within the Internet industry because we have limited capital resources. Our ability to
compete will depend on our ability to obtain users of our products without spending any significant funds to market
and promote our products.

11
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Intellectual Property. Our intellectual property assets include domain names and websites; trademarks related to our
brands, products and services; copyrights in software and creative content; trade secrets; and other intellectual
property rights and licenses of various kinds. We also currently own the web domain www.crowdgather.com , which
serves as our corporate website. Our portfolio currently consists of over 350 domain names and over 70 web
properties at various stages of development.

Under current domain name registration practices, no one else can obtain an identical domain name, but someone
might obtain a similar name, or the identical name with a different suffix, such as “.org”, or with a country
designation. The regulation of domain names in the United States and in foreign countries is subject to change, and
we could be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring domain names that infringe or otherwise decrease the value
of our domain names.

We seek to protect our intellectual property assets through patent, copyright, trade secret, trademark and other laws of
the United States and other countries, and through contractual provisions. We enter into confidentiality and invention
assignment agreements with our employees and contractors, and non-disclosure agreements with third parties with
whom we conduct business in order to secure our proprietary rights and additionally limit access to, and disclosure of,
our proprietary information. We consider our trademarks to be our most valuable assets and we will seek to register
these trademarks in the United States and will seek to protect them. We have licensed in the past, and expect that we
may license in the future, certain of our proprietary rights, such as trademark, patent, copyright, and trade secret rights
to third parties.

12
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Government Regulation. We are subject to regulations and laws directly applicable to providers of online content
and services. Many laws and regulations, however, are pending and may be adopted in the United States, individual
states and local jurisdictions and other countries with respect to the Internet. The federal government and some state
governments have introduced or considered legislation relating to Internet usage generally, including measures
relating to privacy and data security, as well as specific legislation aimed at social networking sites, such as ours. Itis
not possible to predict whether or when such legislation may be adopted, and certain proposals, if adopted, could
negatively affect our business. We do not know for certain how existing laws governing issues such as property
ownership, copyright and other intellectual property issues, digital rights management, security, illegal or obscene
content, retransmission of media, spyware, and personal privacy and data protection apply to the Internet. We monitor
pending legislation to ascertain relevance, analyze impact and develop strategic direction surrounding regulatory
trends and developments within the industry.

A number of U.S. federal laws, including those referenced below, impact our business. The Digital Millennium
Copyright Act (“DMCA”) is intended, in part, to limit the liability of eligible online service providers for listing or
linking to third-party Websites that include materials that infringe copyrights or other rights of others. Portions of the
Communications Decency Act (“CDA”) are intended to provide statutory protections to online service providers who
distribute third-party content. We rely on the protections provided by both the DMCA and CDA in conducting our
business. Any changes in these laws or judicial interpretations narrowing their protections will subject us to greater
risk of liability and may increase our costs of compliance with these regulations or limit our ability to operate certain
lines of business. The Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act of 1998 (“COPPA”) prohibits web sites from collecting
personally identifiable information online from children under age 13 without prior parental consent. The Controlling
the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003 (“CAN-SPAM?”) regulates the distribution of
unsolicited commercial emails, or “spam.” Online services provided by us may be subject to COPPA and CAN-SPAM
requirements. Congress and individual states may also consider online privacy legislation that would apply to personal
information collected from teens and adults. We believe that we are in material compliance with the requirements
imposed by those laws and regulations.

We are also subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations applied to businesses generally. We believe that we
are in conformity with all applicable laws in all relevant jurisdictions. We do not believe that we have not been
affected by any of the rules and regulations specified in this section.

Cannabis is currently a Schedule I controlled substance and is, therefore, illegal under federal law. Even in those states
in which the use of cannabis has been legalized, its use, possession, or cultivation remains a violation of federal law.
A Schedule I controlled substance is defined as one that has no currently accepted medical use in the United States, a
lack of safety for use under medical supervision and a high potential for abuse.

Research and Development. We seek to continually enhance, expand, and launch products and features to meet
evolving user, advertiser, and publisher needs for technological innovation and a deeper, more integrated experience
for the online community of users. We intend to leverage our internal development efforts through technology

13
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acquisitions.

Our Subsidiaries. Our sole remaining subsidiary is Adisn, Inc. Our former subsidiary Plaor, Inc. was sold on March
18, 2016.

Employees. As of December 16, 2016, we have 3 full time employees. None of our employees are covered by a
collective bargaining agreement, nor are they represented by a labor union. We have not experienced any work
stoppages, and we consider relations with our employees to be good.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described
below together with all of the other information included in this report before making an investment decision with
regard to our securities. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition, and/or results
of operations could be harmed. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose
all or part of your investment. You should only purchase our securities if you can afford to suffer the loss of your
entire investment.

14
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Risks Related to Our Business:

We have a history of net losses which will continue and which may negatively impact our ability to achieve our
business objectives.

For the year ended April 30, 2016, we had revenue from continuing operations of $441,000 and a net loss from
continuing operations of $3,440,000 compared to revenue from continuing operations of $656,000 and a net loss from
continuing operations of $2,868,000 for the year ended April 30, 2015. There can be no assurance that our future
operations will result in net income. Our failure to increase our revenues will harm our business. We may not be able
to operate profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. If our revenues grow more slowly than we
anticipate or our operating expenses exceed our expectations, our operating results will suffer.

Our auditors have questioned our ability to continue operations as a “going concern.” Investors may lose all of
their investment if we are unable to continue operations.

We hope to obtain significant revenues from future sales. In the absence of significant sales and profits, we will seek
to raise additional funds to meet our working capital needs principally through the additional sales of our

securities. However, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to obtain sufficient additional funds when needed, or
that such funds, if available, will be obtainable on terms satisfactory to us. As a result, our auditors believe that
substantial doubt exists about our ability to continue operations. In the event we are not able to continue operations,
our securities will become worthless.

Our limited operating history may not serve as an adequate basis to judge our future prospects and results of
operations.

We have a relatively limited operating history. Such limited operating history and the unpredictability of the success
of online forums makes it difficult for investors to evaluate our business and future operating results. An investor in
our securities must consider the risks, uncertainties, and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in our
industry. The risks and difficulties we face include challenges in accurate financial planning as a result of limited
historical data and the uncertainties resulting from having had a relatively limited time period in which to implement
and evaluate our business strategies as compared to older companies with longer operating histories.

We will need additional financing to execute our business plan.

15
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The revenues from the sale of advertising and forum memberships and the projected revenues from Plaor are not
currently adequate to support our expansion and product development programs. We will need additional funds to:

-effectuate our business plan;

-expand our online reach and presence;

-develop and enhance our technological capabilities, including new social casino games;
-file, prosecute, defend and enforce our intellectual property rights; and

-hire and retain key employees.

We will seek additional funds through public or private equity or debt financing, via strategic transactions, and/or
from other sources. There are no assurances that future funding will be available on favorable terms or at all. If

additional funding is not obtained, we may need to reduce, defer or cancel development programs, planned initiatives,

or overhead expenditures to the extent necessary. The failure to fund our operating and capital requirements could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

16
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Additional capital may be costly or difficult to obtain.

Additional capital, whether through the offering of equity or debt securities, may not be available on reasonable terms
or at all. If we are unable to obtain required additional capital, we may have to curtail our growth plans or cut back on
existing business and, further, we may not be able to continue operating if we do not generate sufficient revenues from
operations needed to stay in business. We may incur substantial costs in pursuing future capital financing, including
investment banking fees, legal fees, accounting fees, securities law compliance fees, printing and distribution
expenses and other costs. We may also be required to recognize non-cash expenses in connection with certain
securities we issue, such as convertible notes and warrants, which may adversely impact our financial condition.

Our resources may not be sufficient to manage our potential growth; failure to properly manage our potential
growth would be detrimental to our business.

We may fail to adequately manage our potential future growth. Any growth in our operations will place a significant
strain on our administrative, financial and operational resources, and increase demands on our management and on our
operational and administrative systems, controls and other resources. We cannot assure you that our existing
personnel, systems, procedures or controls will be adequate to support our operations in the future or that we will be
able to successfully implement appropriate measures consistent with our growth strategy. As part of this growth, we
may have to implement new operational and financial systems, procedures and controls to expand, train and manage
our employee base, and maintain close coordination among our technical, accounting, finance, marketing and sales
staff. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to do so, or that if we are able to do so, we will be able to effectively
integrate them into our existing staff and systems. There may be greater strain on our systems mainly because we have
acquired a business and significant number of Internet properties over the last 60 months and have had to devote
significant management time and expense to the ongoing integration and alignment of management, systems, controls
and marketing. To the extent we acquire other businesses, we will also need to integrate and assimilate new
operations, technologies and personnel. If we are unable to manage growth effectively, such as if our sales and
marketing efforts exceed our capacity to install, maintain and service our products or if new employees are unable to
achieve performance levels, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely
affected.

Interest-group forums may not prove to be a viable business model.

Interest-group forums as a business model for delivering information and entertainment over the Internet is unproven,
and we have only recently developed a business centered on this model. It is too early to predict whether consumers
will accept, and use our products on a regular basis, in significant numbers, and participate in our online community.
Our products may fail to attract significant numbers of users, or, may not be able to retain the usership that it attracts,
and, in either case, we may fail to develop a viable business model for our online community. In addition, a significant
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portion of the content that we provide is available for free. If we are unable to successfully monetize the use of our
content, either through advertising or fees for use, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenues.

We may be unable to attract advertisers to our online forums.

Advertising revenue comprises a significant portion of the revenue generated by the forums that we own. Most large
advertisers have fixed advertising budgets, only a small portion of which has traditionally been allocated to Internet
advertising. In addition, the overall market for advertising, including Internet advertising, has been generally
characterized in recent periods by softness of demand, reductions in marketing and advertising budgets, and by delays
in spending of budgeted resources. Advertisers may continue to focus most of their efforts on traditional media or may
decrease their advertising spending. If we fail to convince advertisers to spend a portion of their advertising budgets
with us, we will be unable to generate revenues from advertising as we intend.

18
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Our forum business generates revenue almost entirely from advertising and retaining other sites as paid
participants in our community, and the reduction in spending by, or loss of, advertisers and members could
seriously harm our ability to generate revenues.

Our forum business generates revenues from advertisers and other communities that pay to affiliate with our sites. If
we are unable provide value to potential advertisers or other online communities, we may not be able to sell any ad
space or memberships, which would negatively impact our revenues and business. In addition, we expect that
advertisers will be able terminate their contracts with us at any time. We may also encounter difficulty collecting from
our advertisers because we are a very small company with limited resources to collect outstanding balances.

If we are unable to compete effectively in the social network sector of the Internet industry, our business will fail.

The social network sector of the Internet industry is extremely competitive. The competition comes from both
companies within the same business and companies in other media which create alternative forms of entertainment.
We compete with several major Internet companies which are dominant in the industry, as well as with numerous
small and independent Internet companies. Many of the organizations with which we compete have significantly
greater financial and other resources than we do. The major companies are typically large, diversified entertainment
and media companies or subsidiaries of diversified corporations which have strong relationships with advertisers and
others involved in the Internet industry. We may not be able to compete with those companies for users and
advertisers.

We may not be able to sustain or grow our business unless we keep up with changes in technology and consumer
tastes.

The Internet and electronic commerce industries are characterized by:

rapidly changing technology;

evolving industry standards and practices that could render our website and proprietary technology obsolete;
changes in consumer tastes and user demands;

challenges, such as “click fraud,” that cast doubt on otherwise legitimate activities and practices; and
frequent introductions of new services or products that embody new technologies.

Our future performance will depend, in part, on our ability to develop, license or acquire leading technologies and
program formats, enhance our existing services and respond to technological advances and consumer tastes and
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emerging industry standards and practices on a timely and cost-effective basis. Developing website and other
proprietary technology involves significant technical and business risks. We also cannot assure you that we will be
able to successfully use new technologies or adapt our website and proprietary technology to emerging industry
standards. We may not be able to remain competitive or sustain growth if we do not adapt to changing market
conditions or customer requirements.

We face significant competition from large-scale Internet content, product and service aggregators, principally
Google, Microsoft, Yahoo and Facebook.

Our forum business faces significant competition from companies, principally Google, Microsoft, Yahoo and
Facebook that have developed or acquired similar online sites. These services may directly compete with us for
affiliate and advertiser arrangements, which is key to our business and operating results. Some of these competitors
offer services that indirectly compete with our services, including: consumer e-mail services, desktop search, local
search, and instant messaging services; photos, maps, video sharing, content channels, mobile applications, and
shopping services; movie, television, music, book, periodical, news, sports, and other media holdings; access to a
network of cable and other broadband users and delivery technologies; advertising offerings; and have considerable
resources for future growth and expansion. Some of the existing competitors and possible additional entrants may
have greater operational, strategic, financial, personnel or other resources than we do, as well as greater brand
recognition either overall or for certain products and services. We expect these competitors increasingly to use their
financial and engineering resources to compete with us, individually and potentially in combination with each other.
In certain of these cases, our competition has a direct billing relationship with a greater number of their users through
Internet access and other services than we have with our users through our premium services. This relationship may
permit such competitors to be more effective than us in targeting services and advertisements to the specific
preferences of their users thereby giving them a competitive advantage. If our competitors are more successful than
we are in developing compelling products or attracting and retaining users, advertisers, or publishers, then our
revenues and growth rates could decline.
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We face significant competition from traditional media companies which could negatively impact our future
operating results.

Our forum business also competes with traditional media companies for advertising, both offline as well as
increasingly with their online assets as media companies offer more content directly from their own websites. Most
advertisers currently spend a small portion of their advertising budgets on Internet advertising. If we fail to persuade
existing advertisers to retain and increase their spending with us and if we fail to persuade new advertisers to spend a
portion of their budget on advertising with us, our revenues could decline and our future operating results could be
adversely affected.

We anticipate that the majority of our forum revenues will be derived from advertising to our users, and the
reduction in spending by or loss of current or potential advertisers would cause our revenues and operating results
to decline.

We anticipate that our forum business will primarily rely on our ability to generate revenues from advertising on our
sites and from paid subscriptions from our members. Our ability to develop revenue from advertising revenue
depends upon:

-establishing and maintaining our user base;

-establishing and maintaining the popularity of our Internet forums;

-broadening our relationships with advertisers to small- and medium-sized businesses;

-attracting advertisers to our user base;

increasing demand for our services by advertisers, users, businesses and affiliates, including prices paid by
-advertisers, the number of searches performed by users, the rate at which users click-through to commercial search
results and advertiser perception of the quality of leads generated by our forums;

-the successful development and deployment of technology improvements to our advertising platform;
-establishing and maintaining our affiliate program for our search marketing;

-deriving better demographic and other information from our users; and

-driving acceptance of the Web in general and of our sites in particular by advertisers as an advertising medium.

We anticipate that our agreements with advertisers will likely have terms of one year or less, or may be terminated at
any time by the advertiser. Accordingly, it is difficult to forecast advertising revenues accurately. Any reduction in
spending by or loss of existing or potential future advertisers would cause our revenues to decline. Further, we may be
unable to adjust spending quickly enough to compensate for any unexpected revenue shortfall.
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We are substantially dependent on a small number of direct advertisers and advertising networks, which account
for a vast majority of our revenues for our forum business.

Our forum business currently generate revenues from approximately fifteen advertising networks. For the year ended
April 30, 2016, our top five advertisers accounted for approximately 37% of our forum related revenues. We expect to
continue to generate the vast majority of our revenues from advertising for the foreseeable future. We do not have any
long-term contractual agreements with any advertiser or advertising network. If our relationships with any of these
advertisers or advertising networks were to be disrupted, our operating results will suffer.

Decreases or delays in advertising spending by our advertisers due to general economic conditions could harm our
ability to generate advertising revenues from our forum business.

Expenditures by advertisers tend to be cyclical, reflecting overall economic conditions and budgeting and buying
patterns. Since we derive most of our revenues from advertising, any decreases in or delays in advertising spending
due to general economic conditions could reduce our revenues or negatively impact our ability to grow our revenues.
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Quarterly financial results will vary.

Factors that may contribute to the variability of quarterly revenue and operating results include:

fluctuations in revenue due to cyclicality of our customers’ forum advertising spend;

commencement, completion and termination of contracts during any particular quarter;

additions and departures of key personnel; and

strategic decisions made by us and our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint ventures,
strategic investments and changes in business strategy.

Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and any inability to protect them could reduce the value of our brand
image and harm our business and our operating results.

We hope to create, own and maintain a wide array of intellectual property assets, including copyrights, patents,
trademarks, trade dress, trade secrets and rights to certain domain names, which we believe will be among our most
valuable assets. We seek to protect our intellectual property assets through patent, copyright, trade secret, trademark
and other laws of the United States and other countries of the world, and through contractual provisions. The efforts
we have taken or will take to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights may not be sufficient or effective
at stopping unauthorized use of those rights. In addition, effective trademark, patent, copyright and trade secret
protection may not be available or cost-effective in every country in which our products and media properties are
distributed or made available through the Internet. There may be instances where we are not able to fully protect or
utilize our intellectual property assets in a manner to maximize competitive advantages. Protection of the distinctive
elements of our site may not be available under copyright law or trademark law. If we are unable to protect our
proprietary rights from unauthorized use, the value of our brand image may be reduced. Any impairment of our brand
could negatively impact our business. In addition, protecting our intellectual property and other proprietary rights is
expensive and time consuming. Any increase in the unauthorized use of our intellectual property could make it more
expensive to do business and consequently harm our operating results.

We are subject to U.S. and foreign government regulation of Internet services which could subject us to claims,
Jjudgments and remedies including monetary liabilities and limitations on our business practices.

We are subject to regulations and laws directly applicable to providers of Internet content and services. In addition, we
will also be subject to any new laws and regulations directly applicable to our domestic and international activities.
We may incur substantial liabilities for expenses necessary to defend such litigation or to comply with these laws and
regulations, as well as potential substantial penalties for any failure to comply. Compliance with these laws and
regulations may also cause us to change or limit our business practices in a manner adverse to our business.
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We rely on third-party providers for our principal Internet connections and technologies, databases and network
services critical to our properties and services, and any errors, failures or disruption in the services provided by
these third parties could significantly harm our business and operating resullts.

We rely on private third-party providers for our principal Internet connections, co-location of a significant portion of
our data servers and network access. A key element of our strategy is to generate a high volume of traffic to our
forums. Our ability to generate revenues will depend substantially on the number of customers who use our websites.
Accordingly, the satisfactory performance, reliability and availability of our websites and network infrastructure are
critical to our ability to generate revenues, as well as to our reputation. Any disruption, from natural disasters,
technology malfunctions, sabotage or other factors, in the Internet or network access or co-location services provided
by these third-party providers or any failure of these third-party providers to handle current or higher volumes of use
could significantly harm our business, operating results and financial condition. We have little control over these
third-party providers, which increases our vulnerability to disruptions or problems with their services. Any financial
difficulties experienced by our providers may have negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of which we
cannot predict.
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Furthermore, we depend on hardware and software suppliers for prompt delivery, installation and service of servers
and other equipment to deliver our services. Any errors, failures, interruptions or delays experienced in connection
with these third-party technologies and information services could negatively impact our relationship with users and
adversely affect our brand, our business, and operating results.

Security breaches, computer viruses and computer hacking attacks could harm our business and results of
operations.

Security breaches, computer malware and computer hacking attacks have become more prevalent in our industry. Any
security breach caused by hacking, including efforts to gain unauthorized access to our applications, servers or
websites, or to cause intentional malfunctions or loss or corruption of data, software, hardware or other computer
equipment, and the inadvertent transmission of computer viruses could harm our business, financial condition and
operating results. Though it is difficult to determine what harm may directly result from any specific interruption or
breach, any failure to maintain performance, reliability, security and availability of our application, servers or website
may result in significant expenses, loss of revenue and other adverse effects to our business.

If we are not able to retain the full-time services of senior management, there may be an adverse effect on our
operations and/or our operating performance until we find suitable replacements.

Our business is dependent, to a large extent, upon the services of our senior management. We do not maintain key
person life insurance for any members of our senior management at this time. The loss of services of our chief
executive officer or any other key members of our senior management could adversely affect our business until
suitable replacements can be found. There may be a limited number of personnel with the requisite skills to serve in
these positions, and we may be unable to locate or employ such qualified personnel on acceptable terms.

Our inability to diversify our operations may subject us to economic fluctuations within our industry.

Our limited financial resources reduce the likelihood that we will be able to diversify our operations. Our probable
inability to diversify our activities into more than one business area will subject us to economic fluctuations within the
Internet industry and therefore increase the risks associated with our operations.

If there are changes in regulations or user concerns regarding privacy and protection of user data, or we fail to
comply with such laws, we may face claims brought against us under any of these regulations and it could
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adversely affect our business.

Federal, state and international laws and regulations govern the collection, use, retention, sharing and security of data
that we receive from and about our users. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with regulations of
privacy and protection of user data or with any data-related consent orders, Federal Trade Commission requirements
or orders, or other federal, state, or international privacy or consumer protection-related laws, regulations or industry
self-regulatory principles could result in proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or others, which
could potentially have an adverse effect on our business. As a company that provides services over the Internet, we
may be subject to a claim or class-action lawsuit brought under any of these or future laws governing online services.
The successful assertion of these claims against us could result in potentially significant monetary damages, diversion
of management resources and require us to make significant payments and incur substantial legal expenses. Even if a
claim is not successfully pursued to judgment by a claimant, we may still incur substantial legal expenses defending
against such a claim. In either situation, any claims with respect to violation of privacy or user data brought against us
may adversely affect our business.
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The costs to meet our reporting requirements as a public company subject to the Exchange Act of 1934 is
substantial and may result in us having insufficient funds to operate our business.

We are a public reporting company in the United States and, accordingly, subject to the information and reporting
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and other federal securities laws, and the compliance obligations
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Sarbanes-Oxley). We will incur ongoing expenses associated with professional
fees for accounting and legal expenses associated with being a public company. We estimate that these costs will
range up to $200,000 per year for the next few years. Those fees will be higher if our business volume and activity
increases. Those obligations will reduce resources to fund our operations and may limit us in expanding our
operations.

The Company was current in all of its filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission through April, 2016 and
on October 31, 2016, the Company filed a Form 15-12G terminating its filing requirements with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

We operate as a public company, which means we are subject to evolving corporate governance and public
disclosure regulations that may result in additional expenses and continuing uncertainty regarding the application
of such regulations.

Changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including
Sarbanes-Oxley and related rules and regulations, are creating uncertainty for public companies. We are presently
evaluating and monitoring developments with respect to new and proposed rules and cannot predict or estimate the
amount of the additional compliance costs we may incur or the timing of such costs. These new or changed laws,
regulations, and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and as a
result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by courts and regulatory and
governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs
necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. Maintaining appropriate standards of
corporate governance and public disclosure may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a
diversion of management time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. In addition, if
we fail to comply with new or changed laws, regulations, and standards, regulatory authorities may initiate legal
proceedings against us and our business and our reputation may be harmed.

We also expect these new rules and regulations may make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain
director and officer liability insurance and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur
substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to attract
and retain qualified individuals to serve on our Board of Directors or as executive officers.
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We are currently evaluating and monitoring developments with respect to these new rules, and we cannot predict or
estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur or the timing of such costs.

Cannabis remains illegal under Federal law.

Despite the development of a legal cannabis industry under the laws of certain states, these state laws legalizing
medical and adult cannabis use are in conflict with the Federal Controlled Substances Act, which classifies cannabis
as a schedule-I controlled substance and makes cannabis use and possession illegal on a national level. The United
States Supreme Court has ruled that the Federal government has the right to regulate and criminalize cannabis, even
for medical purposes, and thus Federal law criminalizing the use of cannabis preempts state laws that legalize its use.
However, the Obama Administration has determined that it is not an efficient use of resources to direct Federal law
enforcement agencies to prosecute those lawfully abiding by state laws allowing the use and distribution of medical
and recreational cannabis. Yet, there is no guarantee that the Obama Administration will not change its stated policy
regarding the low-priority enforcement of Federal laws in states where cannabis has been legalized. Additionally, we
face another presidential election cycle in 2016 and a new administration could introduce a less favorable policy or
decide to enforce the Federal laws strongly. Any such change in the Federal government’s enforcement of Federal laws
could cause significant financial damage to us and our shareholders.
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As the possession and use of cannabis is illegal under the Federal Controlled Substances Act, we may be deemed to
be aiding and abetting illegal activities through the services that we provide to users and advertisers. As a result, we
may be subject to enforcement actions by law enforcement authorities, which would materially and adversely affect
our business.

Under Federal law, and more specifically the Federal Controlled Substances Act, the possession, use, cultivation, and
transfer of cannabis is illegal. Our business provides services to customers that are engaged in the business of
possession, use, cultivation, and/or transfer of cannabis. As a result, law enforcement authorities, in their attempt to
regulate the illegal use of cannabis, may seek to bring an action or actions against us, including, but not limited, to a
claim of aiding and abetting another’s criminal activities. The Federal aiding and abetting statute provides that anyone
who “commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures its
commission, is punishable as a principal.” 18 U.S.C. §2(a). As a result of such an action, we may be forced to cease
operations and our investors could lose their entire investment. Such an action would have a material negative effect
on our business and operations.

Federal enforcement practices could change with respect to services provided to participants in the cannabis
industry, which could adversely impact us. If the Federal government were to change its practices, or were to
expend its resources on enforcement actions against service providers in the cannabis industry, such actions could
have a materially adverse effect on our operations, our customers, or the sales of our products.

It is possible that additional Federal or state legislation could be enacted in the future that would prohibit our
advertisers from selling cannabis, and, if such legislation were enacted, such advertisers may discontinue the use of
our services, our potential source of customers would be reduced, and our revenues would decline. Further, additional
government disruption in the cannabis industry could cause potential customers and users to be reluctant use and
advertise on our products, which would be detrimental to the Company. We cannot predict the nature of any future
laws, regulations, interpretations or applications, nor can we determine what effect additional governmental
regulations or administrative policies and procedures, when and if promulgated, could have on our business.

Risks Related to Owning our Common Stock:

Volatility of stock price may restrict sale opportunities.

Our stock price is affected by a number of factors, including stockholder expectations, financial results, the
introduction of new products by us and our competitors, general economic and market conditions, estimates and
projections by the investment community and public comments by other persons, and many other factors, many of

29



Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

which are beyond our control. We may be unable to achieve analysts’ revenue or earnings forecasts, which may be
based on projected volumes and sales of many product types and/or new products, certain of which are more
profitable than others. There can be no assurance that we will achieve projected levels of revenues. As a result, our
stock price is subject to significant volatility and stockholders may not be able to sell our stock at attractive prices.

Our shares may have limited liquidity.

Our shares of common stock are quoted on the OTC PINK, which has limited liquidity. Due to this limited liquidity,
our stockholders may be unable to sell their shares into the open market. In addition, they may encounter difficulty
selling large blocks of shares or obtaining a suitable price at which to sell their shares.

Our stock has been deregistered

The Company was current in all of its filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission through April, 2016 and
on October 31, 2016, the Company filed a Form 15-12G terminating its filing requirements with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Our stock price may be volatile, which may result in losses to our stockholders.

The stock markets have experienced significant price and trading volume fluctuations, and the market prices of
companies quoted on the OTC PINK marketplace, where our shares of common stock are quoted, generally have been
very volatile and have experienced sharp share price and trading volume changes. The trading price of our common
stock is likely to be volatile and could fluctuate widely in response to many of the following factors, some of which
are beyond our control:

-variations in our operating results;

changes in expectations of our future financial performance, including financial estimates by securities analysts and
'investors;

-changes in operating and stock price performance of other companies in our industry;
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-additions or departures of key personnel; and
-future sales of our common stock.

Domestic and international stock markets often experience significant price and volume fluctuations. These
fluctuations, as well as general economic and political conditions unrelated to our performance, may adversely affect
the price of our common stock. In particular, the market prices for stocks of companies often reach levels that bear no
established relationship to the operating performance of these companies. These market prices are generally not
sustainable and could vary widely.

Our management owns a substantial portion of our outstanding common stock, which enables them to influence
many significant corporate actions and in certain circumstances may prevent a change in control that would
otherwise be beneficial to our stockholders.

Our management beneficially controls approximately 16% of our outstanding shares of common stock as of April 30,
2016. Such concentrated control could have a substantial impact on matters requiring the vote of the stockholders,
including the election of our directors and most of our corporate actions. This control could delay, defer, or prevent
others from initiating a potential merger, takeover or other change in our control, even if these actions would benefit
our stockholders and us. This control could adversely affect the voting and other rights of our other stockholders and
could depress the market price of our common stock.

Our common shares may be thinly-traded, and our stockholders may be unable to sell at or near ask prices or at all
if they need to sell their shares to raise money or otherwise desire to liquidate such shares.

We cannot predict the extent to which an active public market for our common stock will develop or be sustained due
to a number of factors, including the fact that we are a small company that is relatively unknown to stock analysts,
stock brokers, institutional investors, and others in the investment community that generate or influence sales volume,
and that even if we came to the attention of such persons, they tend to be risk-averse and would be reluctant to follow
an unproven company such as ours or purchase or recommend the purchase of our shares until such time as we
became more seasoned and viable. As a consequence, there may be periods of several days or more when trading
activity in our shares is minimal or non-existent, as compared to a seasoned issuer which has a large and steady
volume of trading activity that will generally support continuous sales without an adverse effect on share price. We
cannot give any assurance that a broader or more active public trading market for our common stock will develop or
be sustained, or that current trading levels will be sustained.

The market for our common shares may be characterized by significant price volatility when compared to seasoned
issuers, and we expect that our share price will be more volatile than a seasoned issuer for the indefinite future. The
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potential volatility in our share price is attributable to a number of factors. First, as noted above, our common shares
may be sporadically and/or thinly traded. As a consequence of this lack of liquidity, the trading of relatively small
quantities of shares by our stockholders may disproportionately influence the price of those shares in either direction.
The price for our shares could, for example, decline precipitously in the event that a large number of our common
shares are sold on the market without commensurate demand, as compared to a seasoned issuer that could better
absorb those sales without adverse impact on its share price. Secondly, an investment in us is a speculative or “risky”
investment due to our lack of significant revenues or profits to date and uncertainty of future market acceptance for
current and potential products. As a consequence of this enhanced risk, more risk-averse investors may, under the fear
of losing all or most of their investment in the event of negative news or lack of progress, be more inclined to sell their
shares on the market more quickly and at greater discounts than would be the case with the stock of a seasoned issuer.

We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends.

We presently do not anticipate that we will pay any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. The
payment of dividends, if any, would be contingent upon our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements, and
general financial condition. The payment of any dividends will be within the discretion of our Board of Directors. We
presently intend to retain all earnings, if any, to implement our business plan; accordingly, we do not anticipate the
declaration of any dividends in the foreseeable future.
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Our common stock may be subject to penny stock rules, which may make it more difficult for our stockholders to
sell their common stock.

Broker-dealer practices in connection with transactions in “penny stocks” are regulated by certain penny stock rules
adopted by the SEC. Penny stocks generally are equity securities with a price of less than $5.00 per share. The penny
stock rules require a broker-dealer, prior to a purchase or sale of a penny stock not otherwise exempt from the rules, to
deliver to the customer a standardized risk disclosure document that provides information about penny stocks and the
risks in the penny stock market. The broker-dealer also must provide the customer with current bid and offer
quotations for the penny stock, the compensation of the broker-dealer and its salesperson in the transaction, and
monthly account statements showing the market value of each penny stock held in the customer’s account. In addition,
the penny stock rules generally require that prior to a transaction in a penny stock, the broker-dealer make a special
written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and receive the purchaser’s written
agreement to the transaction. These disclosure requirements may have the effect of reducing the level of trading
activity in the secondary market for a stock that becomes subject to the penny stock rules.

Volatility in our common stock price may subject us to securities litigation.

The market for our common stock is characterized by significant price volatility when compared to seasoned issuers,
and we expect that our share price will continue to be more volatile than a seasoned issuer for the indefinite future. In
the past, plaintiffs have often initiated securities class action litigation against a company following periods of
volatility in the market price of its securities. We may, in the future, be the target of similar litigation. Securities
litigation could result in substantial costs and liabilities and could divert management’s attention and resources.

We will need additional capital, and the sale of additional shares or other equity securities could result in
additional dilution to our stockholders.

We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents and anticipated cash flow from operations will not be sufficient
to meet our anticipated cash needs for the near future. We may also require additional cash resources due to changed
business conditions or other future developments, including any investments or acquisitions we may decide to pursue.
Consequently, we will seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain a credit facility. The sale of additional
equity securities will result in additional dilution to our stockholders. The incurrence of additional indebtedness would
result in increased debt service obligations and could result in operating and financing covenants that would restrict
our operations. We cannot assure you that financing, if necessary, will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable
to us, if at all.
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The exercise of outstanding options and warrants to purchase our common stock could substantially dilute your
investment, impede our ability to obtain additional financing, and cause us to incur additional expenses.

Under the terms of our outstanding options and warrants to purchase our common stock issued to employees and
others, the holders are given an opportunity to profit from a rise in the market price of our common stock that, upon
the exercise of the options and/or warrants, could result in dilution in the interests of our other stockholders. The
terms on which we may obtain additional financing may be adversely affected by the existence and potentially dilutive
impact of our outstanding options and warrants. In addition, holders of the warrants have registration rights with
respect to the common stock underlying such warrants, the registration of which has caused and will continue to cause
us to incur a substantial expense.

17

34



Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

We have a substantial number of authorized common shares available for future issuance that could cause dilution
of our stockholders’ interest and adversely impact the rights of holders of our common stock.

We have a total of 975,000,000 shares of common stock authorized for issuance. As of December 16, 2016, we had
approximately 845,000,000 shares of common stock available for issuance. We have reserved 3,263,750 shares for
issuance upon the exercise of outstanding options, 7,750,000 shares for issuance upon the exercise of outstanding
warrants, and 304,533,168 shares for issuance upon the conversion of outstanding debt for a total reservation of
315,546,918 shares. We may seek financing that could result in the issuance of additional shares of our capital stock
and/or rights to acquire additional shares of our capital stock. We may also make acquisitions that result in issuances
of additional shares of our capital stock. Those additional issuances of capital stock would result in a significant
reduction of your percentage interest in the Company. Furthermore, the book value per share of our common stock
may be reduced. This reduction would occur if the exercise price of any issued warrants is lower than the book value
per share of our common stock at the time of such exercise or conversion.

The addition of a substantial number of shares of our common stock into the market or by the registration of any of
our other securities under the Securities Act of 1933 may significantly and negatively affect the prevailing market
price for our common stock. The future sales of shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of
outstanding warrants and options may have a depressive effect on the market price of our common stock, as such
warrants and options would be more likely to be exercised or converted at a time when the price of our common stock
is greater than the exercise or conversion price.

Our board of directors has the authority, without stockholder approval, to issue preferred stock with terms that may
not be beneficial to common stockholders and may grant voting powers, rights and preference that differ from or
may be superior to those of the registered shares.

Our articles of incorporation allow us to issue 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock without any vote or further action
by our stockholders. As of December 16, 2016, we had 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock available for

issuance. Our board of directors has the authority to fix and determine the relative rights and preferences of preferred
stock. Our board of directors also has the authority to issue preferred stock without further stockholder approval,
including large blocks of preferred stock. As a result, our board of directors could authorize the issuance of a series of
preferred stock that would grant to holders the preferred right to our assets upon liquidation, the right to receive
dividend payments before dividends are distributed to the holders of common stock and the right to the redemption of
the shares, together with a premium, prior to the redemption of our common stock.

We have deregistered our stock
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The Company was current in all of its filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission through April, 2016 and
on October 31, 2016, the Company filed a Form 15-12G terminating its filing requirements with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

We do not own any interests in real estate. We lease approximately 1,309 square feet of office space located at 23945
Calabasas Rd, Calabasas, California. The term of our lease is for six months and expired on November 30, 2016. Our
rent was $2,553 per month. We did not extend our lease at 23945 Calabasas Rd, Calabasas, California.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations in the normal
course of business.

On November 25, 2015, we received Notice of Service Process related to a complaint filed with the District Court of
California by FameFlynet Inc. and BWP Media USA. The complaint alleged copyright infringement stemming from
content posted to our forum network by users not affiliated with CrowdGather, Inc. On June 21, 2016 we entered into
a settlement agreement and agreed to pay $15,000. Neither party agreed to any wrong doing as part of the settlement
agreement. We report our legal settlement proceeds and expenses net as Legal settlements in the period in which the
given legal settlement contract is agreed to.
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As of the date of this report, we are not currently involved in any legal proceeding that we believe has a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

PART II

Item S. Market for Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information. Our common stock is quoted on the OTC PINK under the symbol “CRWG.” We were current
in all of our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission through April, 2016 and on October 31, 2016, we
filed a Form 15-12G terminating our filing requirements with the Securities and Exchange Commission. For the
periods indicated below, the following table sets forth the high and low bid prices per share of common stock. These
prices represent inter-dealer quotations without retail markup, markdown, or commission and may not necessarily
represent actual transactions.

High ($) Low ($)
Fiscal Year 2016
First Quarter $008 $0.01
Second Quarter $ 0.14  $ 0.02
Third Quarter $006 $0.01
Fourth Quarter $ 0.04  $0.01

Fiscal Year 2015

First Quarter $015 $0.07
Second Quarter $ 0.14  $ 0.08
Third Quarter $014 $0.07
Fourth Quarter $ 0.10 $0.04

Holders. The approximate number of stockholders of record at April 30, 2016 was 109. The number of stockholders
of record does not include beneficial owners of our common stock, whose shares are held in the names of various
dealers, clearing agencies, banks, brokers and other fiduciaries.
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Dividends . We have never declared or paid a cash dividend on our common stock. We do not expect to pay cash
dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain our earnings, if any, for use in
our business. Any dividends declared in the future will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and subject to
any restrictions that may be imposed by our lenders.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans. The table below includes the following
information as of April 30, 2016 for CrowdGather, Inc. 2008 Stock Option and Award Plan.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities

Number of securities Weighted-average remaining available

exercise for
to be . .
. . price of future issuance under
issued upon exercise . . .
of outstanding equity compensation
Plan category . . options, warrants  plans
outstanding options, . o
warrants and rights and (excluding securities
g rights reflected in column
a
@ o (@)
(c)
Equlty compensation plans approved by 3.264,000 $  1.09 5,705,000
security holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by 0 0 0
security holders
Total 3,264,000 $ 1.09 5,705,000

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities. The following sales of unregistered securities by us occurred during the
year ended April 30, 2016. For additional details on each issuance please refer to Note 13 of this report.

Notes Issued

On May 4, 2015 we issued a convertible promissory note to Vinay Holdings in the amount of $150,000.

On June 6, 2015 we issued a convertible promissory note to Vinay holdings in the amount of $100,000.

On July 16, 2015 we issued a promissory note to Vinay Holdings in the amount of $96,000.

On July 23, 2015 we issued a promissory note to Vinay Holdings in the amount of $372,000.
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On August 18, 2015 we issued a promissory note to Vinay Holdings in the amount of $100,000.

On September 15, 2015 we issued a promissory note to Mr. James Sacks, a member of our board, in the amount of
$10,000.

On September 15, 2015 we issued a promissory note to Mr. Hazim Ansari, a member of our board, in the amount of
$10,000.

On September 17, 2015 we issued a promissory note to Mr. Richard Corredera, our Chief Financial Officer, in the
amount of $10,000.

On September 21, 2015 we issued a convertible promissory note to Inconic Holdings, LLC.

On October 14, 2015 we issued a promissory note to Vinay Holdings in the amount of $50,000.

On October 22, 2015 we issued a promissory note to Vinay Holdings in the amount of $40,000.

On November 15, 2015 we issued a promissory note to Vinay Holdings in the amount of $50,000.

On December 1, 2015 we issued a promissory note to Vinay Holdings in the amount of $50,000.

Common stock Shares Issued

On September 23, 2015 we issued 2,724,493 shares of our common stock to Typenex Co-Investment, LLC in the full
exercise of their warrant issued to them on March 2, 2015.
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On April 20, 2015 we issued 1,500,000 shares of our common stock to Iconic Holdings, LL.C in a conversion of
$15,000 of the balance of the convertible promissory note issued to them on September 21, 2015.
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Use of Proceeds of Registered Securities. There were no sales or proceeds during the calendar year ended April 30,
2016, for the sale of registered securities.

Purchases of Equity Securities. None during the period covered by this report.

Penny Stock Regulation. Shares of our common stock will probably be subject to rules adopted by the SEC that
regulate broker-dealer practices in connection with transactions in “penny stocks.” Penny stocks are generally equity
securities with a price of less than $5.00 (other than securities registered on certain national securities exchanges or
quoted on the NASDAQ system, provided that current price and volume information with respect to transactions in
those securities is provided by the exchange or system). The penny stock rules require a broker-dealer, prior to a
transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from those rules, deliver a standardized risk disclosure document
prepared by the SEC, which contains the following:

a description of the nature and level of risk in the market for penny stocks in both public offerings and secondary
'trading;

a description of the broker’s or dealer’s duties to the customer and of the rights and remedies available to the customer
"with respect to violation to such duties or other requirements of securities’ laws;

a brief, clear, narrative description of a dealer market, including “bid” and “ask” prices for penny stocks and the
“significance of the spread between the “bid” and “ask” price;
-a toll-free telephone number for inquiries on disciplinary actions;
-definitions of significant terms in the disclosure document or in the conduct of trading in penny stocks; and

such other information and is in such form (including language, type, size and format), as the SEC shall require by
‘rule or regulation.

Prior to effecting any transaction in penny stock, the broker-dealer also must provide the customer the following:

-the bid and offer quotations for the penny stock;

-the compensation of the broker-dealer and its salesperson in the transaction;

the number of shares to which such bid and ask prices apply, or other comparable information relating to the depth
“and liquidity of the market for such stock; and

-monthly account statements showing the market value of each penny stock held in the customer’s account.

In addition, the penny stock rules require that prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from those
rules, the broker-dealer must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the
purchaser and receive the purchaser’s written acknowledgment of the receipt of a risk disclosure statement, a written
agreement to transactions involving penny stocks, and a signed and dated copy of a written suitability

statement. These disclosure requirements may have the effect of reducing the trading activity in the secondary market
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for a stock that becomes subject to the penny stock rules. Holders of shares of our common stock may have difficulty
selling those shares because our common stock will probably be subject to the penny stock rules.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation.

Overview. CrowdGather currently operates a media network of forum and online communities focused on a broad
number of vertical interests. Subsequent to the sale of our Plaor subsidiary, we are no longer active in the gaming
sector. We continue to focus on pursuing opportunities to improve and increase monetization of our consolidated
media network as well as opportunities to evolve our holdings by focusing more on the cannabis vertical which will
allow for us to have more predictable growth due to the rate at which this segment of the economy is growing. Our
current strategy is to position our assets towards a cannabis enthusiast and lifestyle vertical in the hopes of attracting
the advertisers who seek to target cannabis users online. The rapid growth in awareness and usage of cannabis has
created a tremendous need wherein there is a surplus of marketing dollars all chasing the same few high traffic outlets
as means of acquiring users. CrowdGather intends to build an entire network focused on this vertical as a means of
benefitting from this high demand.

We initially entered the cannabis vertical with the acquisition of WeedTracker.com, an online community forum
dedicated to the cannabis industry in 2015. Going forward, we will launch other cannabis communities as well as
leveraging our existing free forum building software to allow users to create their own cannabis themed communities.
In this way we will continue the initial mission CrowdGather was formed for which was to ‘gather’ a large crowd of
online enthusiasts, but with an emphasis on moving away from the diverse verticals we currently service so that we
can gain significant leverage by focusing only primarily on the online cannabis space.

Additionally, when funding permits it, we intend to ‘gather’ the crowd offline through the launch of cannabis themes
coworking spaces beginning in December 2016. By consolidating all of our efforts into the burgeoning cannabis
vertical, we hope to generate enough free cash flow to then leverage our capital into other attractive cannabis related
acquisitions and opportunities.

Our publishing business specializes in monetizing a network of online forums and message boards designed to
engage, provide information to and build community around users. We are in the process of building what we hope
will become an important social, advertising and user generated content network by consolidating existing groups of
online users who post on message boards and forums. Our goal is to create superb user experiences for forum
communities and world class service offerings for forum owners. We believe that the communities built around
message boards and forums are one of the most dynamic sources of information available on the web because forums
are active communities built around interest and information exchange on specific topics.

Prior to the purchase of WeedTracker.com, we had a network catering to a diverse range of verticals. While the
majority of our traffic is still not from cannabis related properties, we are repositioning our network to appeal to
advertisers who wish to target cannabis enthusiasts. Properties we own such as RapMusic.com and SneakerTalk.com
cater to a demographic that has significant overlap with cannabis users and we intend to systematically review all of
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our owned and hosted communities to aggregate traffic which is relevant to this vertical.

Our network is comprised of two types of forum communities: branded and hosted communities that are built on one
of our forum hosting platforms. The branded communities, such as Pocketables.com and Digishoptalk.com, are
wholly owned by us and we monetize them through a combination of text and display ads. The hosted communities
comprise the majority of our revenues, traffic, and page views, and are built upon one of our leading forum hosting
platforms - Yuku.com and Freeforums.org. We monetize the web traffic on these sites through a combination of
Internet advertising mediums at our discretion in exchange for providing free software, support and hosting. In some
instances, we may derive subscription revenues in lieu of or in addition to advertising revenue because the site
administrator has decided to pay monthly fees in exchange for providing an ad-free experience and other services for
their members. Our goal is to ultimately build a cannabis advertising network that allows us to leverage the targeted
demographics of the combined network in order to generate the highest advertising rates for all of our member sites.

Across our network we are committed to delivering quality, brand safe content for forum advertisers. Since
advertisers are drawn to quality content and curated home pages, we have been working diligently to improve our
branded sites. We have thousands of volunteer moderators and forum administrators patrolling our network, and we
are in the process of deploying a proprietary inventory management system that will help identify and prune
non-monetizable content that violates our terms of service.

We also continue to conduct ongoing software maintenance across all of our forum network properties to keep
improving the administrator and user experience in the communities. We are constantly working toward offering our
communities favorable terms, features and incentives to help them grow and prosper.
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The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our
audited financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2016, together with notes thereto, which are included in this
report.

For the vear ended April 30, 2016 as compared to the year ended April 30, 2015.

Results of Operations

Revenues and Gross Profit. We realized revenues from continuing operations of $441,000 for the year ended April
30, 2016, as compared to revenues of $656,000 for the year ended April 30, 2015. The reduction in revenue was
largely the result of declining traffic within our forum network and reduced advertising revenue. Although we are
working to increase traffic within the network and increase advertising revenue increased competition from social
networks such as Facebook continue to pose a challenge to our operational objectives.

Our cost of revenue for continuing operations for the year ended April 30, 2016, was $2,000, as compared to cost of
revenue from continuing operations of $34,000 for the year ended April 30, 2015. The reduction of our costs was the
result of lower overall product costs related to our EROX fragrance expenses.

Our gross profit from continuing operations for the year ended April 30, 2016 was $439,000 as compared to gross
profit from continuing operations of $622,000 for the year ended April 30, 2015. The gross profit reduction was the
result of the increasing competition and declining traffic noted above.

Operating Expenses. For the year ended April 30, 2016, our total operating expenses from continuing operations
were $1,197,000 as compared to total operating expenses from continuing operations of $2,765,000 for the year ended
April 30, 2015. We have reduced our operating expenses through various cost cutting and efficiently improvement
efforts. These efforts include the reduction of staff and a reduction in non-cash compensation.

Payroll expenses for the fiscal year ending April 30, 2016 decreased by $41,000 to $390,000 from $431,000 recorded
for the year ending April 30, 2015 as a result of our staff consolidation and reduction efforts.
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General and administrative expenses decreased by $1,296,000 from $1,985,000 in 2015 to $733,000 in 2016. The
reduction was largely the result of general cost cutting measures including a independent contractor expense reduction
of $100,000, legal expense reduction of $150,000 and reductions in depreciation and amortization expenses of
$180,000.

Other Income (Expense). For the year ended April 30, 2016, we had other expense (net) of $2,681,000 as compared
to other expense (net) of $723,000 for the year ended April 30, 2015. The 2016 net expense increased primarily
consists of interest expense increase of 228,000, debt discount expense increase of $1,515,000, a change in the fair
value of derivative liability of $835,000 related to our convertible notes, and an impairment expense increase of
$1,021,000 related to the impairment of our forums related intangible assets.

Net Loss. For the year ended April 30, 2016, our net loss from continuing operations was $3,440,000 as compared to
a net loss from continuing operations of $2,868,000 for the year ended April 30, 2015. The overall increase of
approximately $528,000 in our net loss is related to the factors discussed above.

Discontinued Operations. In March of 2016 we disposed of our subsidiary Plaor, Inc. in a sale to Native Games
America, LLC. For a discussion of the transaction and the results of discontinued operations please refer to Note 4 in
this report. On March 18, 2016 we sold our wholly owned subsidiary Plaor, Inc. to Native Games America, LLC
(“NGA”). The sale allows us to focus more directly on our core online communities and digital cannabis businesses
while also removing approximately $1,800,000 of current debt and accrued interest from our balance sheet along with
the elimination of approximately $500,000 of liabilities related to Plaor, Inc. For the year ended April 30, 2016 our
loss from discontinued operations was $1,608,000 compared to a loss of $4,362,000 for the year ended April 30, 2015.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources. Our total assets from continuing operations were $3,332,000 as of April 30, 2016,
which consisted of cash of $36,000, accounts receivable of $29,000, prepaid expenses and deposits of $61,000,
property and equipment with a net book value of $11,000, intangible, other assets with a net book value of
$3,195,000, represented by our domain names and other intellectual property owned.

By comparison, our total assets from continuing operations were $4,437,000 as of April 30, 2015, which consisted of
cash of $83,000, accounts receivable of $67,000, prepaid expenses and deposits of $47,000, property and equipment
with a net value of $24,000, intangible and other assets of $4,216,000, represented by our domain names and other
intellectual property owned.

Our current liabilities as of April 30, 2016, totaled $2,694,000, which is comprised of accounts payable of $217,000,
accrued vacation of $34,000, convertible notes payable of $239,000 net of a debt discount of $312,000, derivative
liability of $943,000, notes payable of $758,000, notes payable to related parties of $319,000, and other accrued
liabilities of $184,000. We had no other liabilities and no long-term commitments or contingencies at April 30, 2016.

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015 our total current liabilities from continuing operations totaled $1,403,000
which was comprised of accounts payable of $100,000, accrued vacation of $29,000, convertible notes payable of
$111,000 net of a debt discount of $390,000, derivative liabilities of $688,000, notes payable of $5,000, notes payable
to related parties of $295,000, and other accrued liabilities of $175,000.

As of April 30, 2016, we had cash of $36,000. We estimate that our cash on hand will not be sufficient for us to
continue our current operations for the next twelve months. We remain committed to our forum business and the
potential growth opportunities in the emerging digital cannabis sector. However, in addition to generating revenues
from our current operations, we will need to raise additional capital to sustain our operations and expand our business
to the point at which we are able to operate profitably. Subsequent to the end of the 2016 fiscal year we have
successfully raised $302,000 additional capital (See Note 14) that has allowed us to continue our operations as we
work to further improve revenue and reduce operating expenses.

We have been, and intend to continue, working toward identifying and obtaining new sources of financing. No
assurances can be given that we will be successful in obtaining additional financing in the future. Any future
financing that we may obtain may cause significant dilution to existing stockholders. Any debt financing or other
financing of securities senior to common stock that we are able to obtain will likely include financial and other
covenants that will restrict our flexibility. Any failure to comply with these covenants would have a negative impact
on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to delay, scale back or eliminate portions of our operations or
obtain funds through arrangements with strategic partners or others that may require us to relinquish rights to certain
of our assets. Accordingly, the inability to obtain such financing could result in a significant loss of ownership and/or
control of our assets and could also adversely affect our ability to fund our continued operations and our expansion
efforts.

We do not anticipate that we will purchase any significant equipment over the next twelve months.

We do not anticipate any significant changes in the number of employee unless we significantly increase the size of
our operations. We believe that we do not require the services of additional independent contractors to operate at our
current level of activity. However, if our level of operations increases beyond the level that our current staff can
provide, we may need to supplement our staff in this manner.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes we will be able to
realize our assets and discharge our liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. We have
incurred a net loss of $5,048,000 for the year ended April 30, 2016 and have an accumulated deficit of $36,550,000 as
of April 30, 2016, and additional debt or equity financing will be required to fund our activities and to support our
operations. However, there is no assurance we will be able to obtain additional financing. Furthermore, there is no
assurance that rapid technological changes, changing customer needs and evolving industry standards will enable us to
introduce new products on a continual and timely basis so that profitable operations can be attained. These matters
raise substantial doubt of our ability to continuing operating as a going concern. Management believes that actions
presently being taken to further implement its business plan and generate additional revenues provide opportunity for
us to continue as a going concern. There can be no assurance that our efforts will translate in a beneficial manner. The
accompanying statements do not include any adjustments that might result should we be unable to continue as a going
concern.

Material Contracts

Related Parties

On April 13, 2015, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (Agreement) and related Security Agreement. Under
the Agreement, our CEO Sanjay Sabnani agreed to loan the Company $56,000. As part of the Agreement, we issued

to Mr. Sabnani a Promissory Note whereby we will repay the $56,000 including interest at 12% or the maximum
allowable under the law, whichever is lower. The note, including interest was due April 13, 2016. $6,000 was repaid
to Mr. Sabnani in July 2015, the remaining $50,000 principal balance and all interest due was converted to the
company’s common stock subsequent to this report on July 19, 2016. A total of 5,793,267 shares were issued at a price
of $0.01 per share.

On April 17, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $239,000 received from Mr. Sanjay Sabnani. The proceeds were
used to pay off a short-term convertible note issued to KBM Worldwide, Inc. on October 20, 2014, as well as to
provide us with $25,000 in working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the $239,000 including
interest at 12%. The note, including interest, was due October 20, 2015. Mr. Sabnani has granted a waiver of default
and maturity date extension. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original instrument according to
ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments. The Note is now due April 15, 2017 and is currently in good
standing.

On September 15, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $10,000 received from Mr. James Sacks, a member of our
board. The proceeds were used for general working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the
$10,000 including interest at 12%. The note, including interest, was due March 13, 2016. Mr. Sacks has granted a
waiver of default and maturity date extension. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original
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instrument in accordance with ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments. The Note is now due April 15, 2017
with a principal balance of $10,000 with accrued and payable interest $1,000 as of April 30, 2016.

On September 15, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $10,000 received from Mr. Hazim Ansari, a member of our
board. The proceeds were used for general working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the
$10,000 including interest at 12%. The note, including interest, was due March 13, 2016. Mr. Ansari has granted a
waiver of default and maturity date extension. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original
instrument in accordance with ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments. The Note is now due April 15, 2017
with a principal balance of $10,000 with accrued and payable interest of $1,000 as of April 30, 2016.

On September 17, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $10,000 received from Mr. Richard Corredera, our CFO.
The proceeds were used for general working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the $10,000
including interest at 12%. The note, including interest, was due March 15, 2016. Mr. Corredera has granted a waiver
of default and maturity date extension. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original instrument in
accordance with ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments. The Note is now due April 15, 2017 with a
principal balance of $10,000 with accrued and payable interest of $1,000 as of April 30, 2016.
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Third Parties

On May 4, 2015, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Vinay Holdings. ("Vinay") providing for the
purchase of a Convertible Promissory Note ("Note") in the aggregate principal amount of $150,000. The Note bears
interest at the rate of 8% per annum, was due and payable on November 4, 2015, and may be converted by Vinay at
any time after 180 days of the date of closing into shares our common stock at a conversion price equal to a 39%
discount of the lowest closing bid price (as determined in the Note) calculated at the time of conversion. The Note also
contains certain representations, warranties, covenants and events of default, and increases in the amount of the
principal and interest rates under the Note in the event of such defaults. Vinay has granted a waiver of default and the
note is currently in good standing.

On June 5, 2015, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Vinay Holdings. ("Vinay") providing for the
purchase of a Convertible Promissory Note ("Note") in the aggregate principal amount of $100,000. The Note bears
interest at the rate of 8% per annum, was due and payable on October 16, 2015, and may be converted by Vinay at any
time after 180 days of the date of closing into shares our common stock at a conversion price equal to a 39% discount
of the lowest closing bid price (as determined in the Note) calculated at the time of conversion. The Note also contains
certain representations, warranties, covenants and events of default, and increases in the amount of the principal and
interest rates under the Note in the event of such defaults. Vinay has granted a waiver of default and the note is
currently in good standing.

On July 16, 2015 Vinay was assigned the Note formerly held by KBM Worldwide, Inc. dated January 23, 2015. The
note was due and payable on October 16, 2015. Vinay has granted a waiver of default and the note is currently in good
standing. The assignment was the result of our prepayment of the Note to KBM Worldwide, Inc. with funds invested
by Vinay Holdings expressly for the purpose of the Note assignment. We accounted for the assignment as an
extinguishment of the original KBM note and the issuance of a similarly termed note to Vinay. Vinay Holdings paid
to KBM Worldwide a total of approximately $214,000 on our behalf, the prepayment amount required by the original
KBM agreement. In the extinguishment of the assigned KBM note we recognized a gain on notes payable of $87,000;
extinguished a notes payable balance of $154,000, a derivative liability of $194,000, and the remaining debt discount
of $53,000. In recognition of the new debt now held by Vinay Holdings we recognized notes payable of $154,000,
accrued interest of $6,000, a derivative liability of $262,000, and a debt discount of $154,000; additionally we
immediately recognized $108,000 of interest expense as a result of the excess of the derivative liability over the face
value of the debt. Furthermore, the remainder of the $213,000 payment to KBM in excess over the $154,000 face
value of the convertible debt was added to a secured note issued to Vinay on July 16, 2015 with a principal amount of
$96,000. That note is discussed in the paragraph below.

On July 16, 2015, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (Agreement) and related Security Agreement for
$96,000 with Vinay Holdings. As part of the Agreement, we issued to the Vinay Holdings a Promissory Note whereby
we will repay the $96,000 including interest at 12% or the maximum allowable under the law, whichever is lower.
The note, including interest was due one year from issuance. Vinay holdings granted an extension of the maturity date
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and the note is now due June 7, 2018. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original instrument
according to ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments.

On July 23, 2015, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (Agreement) and related Security Agreement for
$372,000 with Vinay Holdings . As part of the Agreement, we issued to Vinay Holdings a Promissory Note whereby
we will repay the $372,000 including interest at 12% or the maximum allowable under the law, whichever is lower.
The note, including interest was due 60 days from issue date. Vinay Holdings has granted a waiver of default and the
note is currently in good standing. Vinay holdings granted an extension of the maturity date and the note is now due
June 7, 2018. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original instrument according to ASC 470-50
Modifications and Extinguishments.

On August 18, 2015, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (Agreement) and related Security Agreement for
$100,000 with Vinay Holdings . As part of the Agreement, we issued to Vinay Holdings a Promissory Note whereby
we will repay the $100,000 including interest at 12% or the maximum allowable under the law, whichever is lower.
The note, including interest was due 60 days from issue date. Vinay Holdings has granted a waiver of default and the
note is currently in good standing. Vinay holdings granted an extension of the maturity date and the note is now due
June 7, 2018. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original instrument according to ASC 470-50
Modifications and Extinguishments.
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On October 14, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $50,000 received from Vinay Holdings. The proceeds were
used for general working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the $50,000 including interest at
12%. The note, including interest, was due April 11, 2016. Vinay holdings granted an extension of the maturity date
and the note is now due June 7, 2018. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original instrument
according to ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments.

On October 22, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $40,000 received from Vinay Holdings. The proceeds were
used for general working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the $40,000 including interest at
12%. The note, including interest, was due April 19, 2016. Vinay holdings granted an extension of the maturity date
and the note is now due June 7, 2018. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original instrument
according to ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments.

On November 15, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $50,000 received from Vinay Holdings. The proceeds were
used to provide us with working capital. Under the terms of the Note, we agreed to repay the principal including
interest at 12%. The Note, including interest, was due November 15, 2016. Vinay holdings granted an extension of the
maturity date and the note is now due June 7, 2018. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original
instrument according to ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments.

On December 1, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $50,000 received from Vinay Holdings. The proceeds were
used to provide us with working capital. Under the terms of the Note, we agreed to repay the principal including
interest at 12%. The Note, including interest, was due December 1, 2016. Vinay holdings granted an extension of the
maturity date and the note is now due June 7, 2018. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original
instrument according to ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments.

On September 21, 2015 we issued a Promissory Note and Securities Purchase Agreement to Iconic Holdings, LLC.
Aggregate principle amount of $162,000 and an 8% annual interest rate due February 13, 2016. Iconic may convert
some or the entire principle into our common stock at a conversion price equal to a 40% discount of the lowest trading
price as calculated in the note.
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On March 18, 2016, we entered into an amendment and extension agreements with Iconic that provided for an
extension of the earliest conversion date to April 20, 2016 for a payment to Iconic of $25,000. On April 15, 2016 we
entered into a second amendment and extension agreement with Iconic providing for a fixed price at $.01 per share,
except that if our common stock closes below $.01 for three consecutive trading days, Iconic can put the Note to us
requiring us to pay Iconic the balance due, including interest, within 30 days, plus a premium of 20% thereupon. An
additional amendment to Note provisions provides that at any time prior to conversion of any remaining portion of the
Iconic Note, we may offer cash to Iconic for the outstanding balance due plus a 20% premium on such balance, and
Iconic shall thereupon accept the offered payment or convert the balance to common stock at $.01 per share within 72
hours by written notice to us.

On April 20, 2016 Iconic Holdings elected to convert $15,000 of the outstanding balance of the note into our common
stock at a price of $0.01 per share. We issued to iconic 1,500,000 shares of our common stock and reduced the
outstanding balance by $15,000. As of April 30, 2016 the outstanding principal of the note was $147,000.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported assets, liabilities, sales and
expenses in the accompanying financial statements. Critical accounting policies are those that require the most
subjective and complex judgments, often employing the use of estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain.

Critical accounting policies, including the assumptions and judgments underlying them, are disclosed in Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report. However, we do not believe that there are any
alternative methods of accounting for our operations that would have a material effect on our financial statements.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements.

We had no off-balance sheet arrangements at April 30, 2016.
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Not applicable.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The financial statements required by Item 8 are presented in the following order:
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TAX, FINANCIAL AND MANAGEMENT CONSULTING SERVICES FAX
(949) 910-4256

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders

CrowdGather, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CrowdGather, Inc. as of April 30, 2016 and 2015,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years then
ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the entity’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. CrowdGather, Inc. is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal over financial reporting. An audit includes
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of CrowdGather, Inc. as of April 30, 2016 and 2015, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the entity will continue as a going concern.
As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the entity has suffered recurring losses from operations and has an

57



Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

accumulated deficit that raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management's plans
in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that
might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

We have also audited the change in accumulated deficit at April 30, 2014, related only to the sale of PBNation.com as
described in Note 9 that were made to restate the accumulated deficit as of April 30, 2014. In our opinion, such
adjustment is appropriate and has been properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any
procedures to the 2014 consolidated financial statements of CrowdGather, Inc. other than with respect to the
reasonableness of the adjustment of accumulated deficit and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other
form of assurance on the 2014 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

/s/ Hall & Company Certified Public Accountants & Consultants, Inc.

Hall & Company Certified Public Accountants & Consultants, Inc.

Irvine, California

January 10, 2017

29

58



Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

CROWDGATHER, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
APRIL 30,2016 AND 2015

(amounts rounded to nearest 1,000, except share data)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash

Accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses and deposits
Total current assets

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $614,000 and
$600,000 respectively

Intangible and other assets
Total assets associated with continuing operations

Assets associated with discontinued operations

Goodwill

Property and equipment, net of accumulated of $0 and $27,000 respectively
Other current assets

Intangible and other assets, net of accumulated amortization of $0 and $779,000
respectively

Total assets associated with discontinued operations

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued vacation

Other accrued liabilities

Convertible notes payable - net of debt discount of $312,000 and $390,000
respectively

Notes payable to related parties

Notes payable

Derivative liabilities

APRIL 30, 2016

$ 36,000
29,000
61,000

126,000

11,000

3,195,000

3,332,000

$ 3,332,000

$217,000
34,000
184,000

239,000
319,000
758,000

943,000

APRIL 30, 2015

$ 83,000
67,000
47,000
197,000

24,000

4,216,000

4,437,000

1,450,000
13,000
146,000

2,809,000
4,418,000

$ 8,855,000

$ 100,000
29,000
175,000

111,000
295,000
5,000

688,000
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Total current liabilities

Liabilities associated with discontinued operations

Assigned notes payable disposed of in sale of Plaor, Inc - net of debt discount of
$0 and $330,000 respectively

Deferred revenue, net of deferred platform fees

Total other liabilities

Total liabilities associated with discontinued operations

Stockholders’ equity

Preferred stock, $0.001 par, 25,000,000 shares authorized, no shares outstanding
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 975,000,000 shares authorized, 121,536,394
and 117,283,330 issued and outstanding, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2,694,000

122,000

37,066,000
(36,550,000

638,000

$ 3,332,000

)

1,403,000

1,221,000

379,000
701,000

2,301,000

117,000

36,536,000
(31,502,000

5,151,000

$ 8,855,000

)
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CROWDGATHER, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2016 AND 2015

(amounts rounded to nearest 1,000, except share data)

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Operating expenses

Payroll and related expenses
Stock based compensation
General and administrative
Legal settlements, net

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other income (expense), net

Impairment (expense) of intangible assets

Stated interest and issuance (expense)

Amortization of debt discount and interest in excess of debt discount (expense)
Gain on extinguishment of notes payable

Fair value adjustment for derivative liabilities

Total Other income (expense), net

Net loss from continuing operations before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net loss from continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Loss from discontinued operations of Plaor, Inc.

Loss on sale/impairment of note receivable
Net loss from discontinued operations

2016
$441,000
2,000
439,000
390,000
59,000
733,000
15,000
1,197,000
(758,000 )
(1,021,000 )
(323,000 )
(2,257,000 )
12,000
908,000
(2,681,000 )
(3,439,000 )
1,000
(3,440,000 )
(877,000 )
(731,000 )
(1,608,000 )

2015

$656,000
34,000
622,000
431,000
299,000
1,985,000
50,000
2,765,000
(2,143,000

(95,000
(742,000
41,000
73,000
(723,000
(2,866,000
2,000

$(2,868,000

(4,362,000

(4,362,000

)

)

)

)

)

)
)
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Net Loss
Weighted average shares outstanding- basic and diluted

Net loss per share — basic and diluted
Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$(5,048,000 ) $(7,230,000 )

118,987,173

(0.03
(0.01
(0.04

114,068,425

) (0.03
) (0.04
) (0.07

)
)
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CROWDGATHER, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
APRIL 30,2016 AND 2015

(amounts rounded to nearest 1,000, except share data)

Accumulated

Other
Preferred Serices B Common Stock Accumulated Comprehensive
Shares Amount Shares Amount Paid-in Capital Deficit Income/Loss To

Balance as

of April 30,

2014 as 1,000,000 1,000,000 61,657,530 62,000 29,749,000 (22,743,000 ) 29,000 8,(
previously
reported
Prior period
adjustment
Balance as
of April 30,
2014 as
restated
Shares
issued for
the 55,325,800 55,000 6,023,000 6,(
purchase of
assets
Options
expense
Restricted
stock units
Write down
of for-sale (29,000 ) (2
securities

Exchange

of preferred (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (1,
shares

Warrants

issued with 465,000 46
debt

Net (loss) (7,230,000 ) (7,
Balance - - 117,283,330 117,000 36,536,000 (31,502,000 ) - 5,1
April 30,

(1,529,000 ) (1,

1,000,000 1,000,000 61,657,530 62,000 29,749,000 (24,272,000 ) 29,000 6.

266,000 26

300,000 - 33,000 33
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2015

Shares
issued for
the
purchase
assets
Options
expense
Restricted
stock units
Warrants
exercised
Shares
issued for
convertible
debt
Embedded
conversion
feature
Net (loss)
Balance
April 30,
2016

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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28,571

2,724,493

1,500,000

121,536,394

1,000

59,000
4,000

128,000

13,000

325,000

37,066,000

(5,048,000

(36,550,000 ) -

)
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1,(

59
4.

13

15
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CROWDGATHER, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2016 AND 2015

(amounts rounded to nearest 1,000, except share data)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss)
Loss from discontinued operations

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Write-off of intangible

Write-off of note receivable

Write-off of OCI

Write-off of inventory

Depreciation expense

Stock based comp

Derivative liability in excess of debt discount
Amortization of debt discount

Gain on extinguishment of debt

Change in derivative liability

Write-off of investment

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

Prepaids and other current assets
Accounts payable

Cash from discontinued operations

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Cash from discontinued operations

Net cash provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from related party notes

Repayment of related party notes

Proceeds from convertible notes payable
Payments on convertible notes

Net proceeds from Conventional notes payable
Payments on Conventional notes payable

2016

(1,608,000)

1,021,000
731,000

14,000
59,000
1,567,000
361,000
(12,000 )
(908,000 )

38,000
(14,000 )
162,000
(802,000 )

(2,831,000)

(1,000 )
3,409,000
3,408,000

30,000
(6,000 )
554,000
(734,000 )
758,000
(5,000 )

2015

$(3,440,000) $(2,868,000)

(4,362,000)

29,000
31,000
99,000
299,000
295,000
211,000
(41,000 )
(73,000 )
21,000

64,000
10,000
104,000
3,046,000

(3,135,000)

1,291,000
1,291,000

295,000
614,000
(214,000 )
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Cash from discontinued ops
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash, beginning of period
Cash, end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for:

Income taxes

Interest

Non-cash transactions:

Conversion of preferred stock into notes payable
Note payable issued for intangible asset

Stock issued for intangible assets

Debt discount

Conversion of convertible debt into common stock
Exercise of derivative liability for common stock

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(1,221,000)
(624,000 )

(47,000
83,000
$36,000

$566,000
$15,000
$131,000

)

686,000
1,381,000

(463,000 )
546,000
$83,000

$ 800
$-

$1,000,000
$5,000
$6,078,000
$656,000
$-

$-
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CROWDGATHER, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APRIL 30, 2016

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations

L INT3 LR INT

CrowdGather, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as “we”, “us”, “our”, or “the company”) is a social networking, internet
company that specializes in developing and hosting forum based websites and provides targeted advertising and
marketing services for online customers. Through our merger with Plaor, Inc on May 19, 2014, we also developed,
market and operate online social games as live services played over the Internet and on social networking sites and
mobile platforms. Plaor’s initial social gaming platform was a simulated casino environment referred to as Mega Fame
Casino. We are headquartered in Calabasas, California, and were incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada
on April 20, 2005. On March 18, 2016, we sold Plaor, Inc.

This summary of significant accounting policies is presented to assist the reader in understanding and evaluating the
Company’s financial statements. Critical accounting policies are the Company’s management’s representations and
require the most subjective and complex judgment, often involving the use of estimates on the impact and effects
related matters with a large degree of inherent uncertainty. The accompanying policies conform to accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and have been consistently applied in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our activities and our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Adisn,
Inc. and Plaor, Inc. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Plaor, Inc. was sold on March 18, 2016 and
has been presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as discontinued operations in accordance
with ASC 205-20 Discontinued Operations.

Use of Estimates
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported periods. Actual results could materially differ from those
estimates as the current economic environment increases the degree of uncertainly inherent in the estimates and
uncertainty. The more significant estimates and assumptions made my management include allowances for doubtful
accounts, allowance for deferred income, depreciation and amortization, fair market value of equity and embedded
derivative instruments, fair market value of purchased and sold assets, and impairment of intangible assets.
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Identifiable Intangible Assets

In accordance with ASC 350 Intangibles — Goodwill and Other, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are
not amortized but instead are measured for impairment at least annually in the fourth quarter, or when events indicate
that impairment exists. As required by ASC 350, in the impairment tests for indefinite-lived intangible assets, we
compare the estimated fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible assets, website domain names, using a combination
of discounted cash flow analysis and market value comparisons. If the carrying value exceeds the estimate of fair
value, we calculate the impairment as the excess of the carrying value over the estimate of fair value and accordingly
record the loss. During the years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 we recognized approximately $1,021,000 and $0 of
impairment expense related to our continuing operations and $0 and $1,020,000 of impairment expense related to our
discontinued operations for each of the years respectively. For the details of our impairment expenses related to
continuing operations please refer to Note 8 below. For the details related to impairment expenses associated with our
discontinued operations please refer to Note 4 below.

Intangible assets that are determined to have definite lives are amortized over the shorter of their legal lives or their
estimated useful lives and are measured for impairment only when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value
may be impaired in accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment discussed below.

Impairment of I.ong-Lived Assets

In accordance with ASC 360 Property, Plant and Equipment, we generally estimate the future undiscounted cash
flows to be derived from the asset to assess whether or not a potential impairment exists when qualitative events or
circumstances indicate the carrying value of a long-lived asset may be impaired. However, in cases where we
determine a non-material amount we assess specific facts and circumstances to assess potential impairment. If the
carrying value exceeds our estimate of future undiscounted cash flows, we then calculate the impairment as the excess
of the carrying value of the asset over our estimate of its fair value. During the years ended on April 30, 2016 and
2015 we did not recognize any impairment of long lived assets.

Investments

Investments are classified as available for sale and consist of marketable equity securities that we intend to hold for an
indefinite period of time. Investments are stated at fair value and unrealized holding gains and losses, net of the related
tax effect, are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income until realized. Realized gains or
losses on disposition of investments are computed on the “specific identification” method and are reported as income or
loss in the period of disposition on our consolidated statements of operations.
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During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015 we wrote down our investment in EROX of $21,000 to $0.

Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market, using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015 we wrote down our inventory of $31,000 to $0.

Related Parties

A party is considered to be related to the Company if the party directly or indirectly or through one or more
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the Company. Related parties also include
principal owners of the Company, its management, members of the immediate families of principal owners of the
Company and its management and other parties with which the Company may deal if one party controls or can
significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to an extent that one of the transacting
parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests. A party which can significantly influence
the management or operating policies of the transacting parties or if it has an ownership interest in one of the
transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an extent that one or more of the transacting parties
might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests is also a related party.

During year ended April 30, 2015 the Company paid $32,800 for legal services provided by Mr. Hazim Ansari, which
the Company has identified to be a related party, as he later became a member of the Board of Directors.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company applies the provisions of accounting guidance, FASB Topic ASC 825 that requires all entities to
disclose the fair value of financial instruments, both assets and liabilities recognized and not recognized on the
balance sheet, for which it is practicable to estimate fair value, and defines fair value of a financial instrument as the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. As of April 30,
2016 and 2015, the fair value of cash, accounts payable, and notes payable approximated carrying value due to the
short maturity of the instruments, quoted market prices or interest rates which fluctuate with market rates.

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net earnings applicable to common stockholders by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per common
share is determined using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for
the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents, using the treasury stock method, consisting of shares that might be
issued upon exercise of common stock warrants and conversion of convertible notes. In periods where losses are
reported, the weighted-average number of common stock outstanding excludes common shares equivalents, because
their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. The following are types of potentially dilutive instruments:

Warrants,

Convertible notes,

Employee stock options,,

Restricted stock units, and

Other equity awards, which include long-term incentive awards.
The FASB ASC Topic 260, “Earnings Per Share”, requires the Company to include additional shares in the
computation of earnings per share, assuming dilution. The additional shares included in diluted earnings per share

represents the number of shares that would be issued if all of the Company’s outstanding dilutive instruments were
converted into common stock.

Diluted earnings per share are based on the assumption that all dilutive options were converted or exercised. Dilution
is computed by applying the treasury stock method. Under this method, options, warrants, and convertible notes are
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assumed to be exercised at the time of issuance, and as if funds obtained thereby were used to purchase common stock
at the average market price during the period.

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share are the same since the Company had net losses for all periods presented
and including the additional potential common shares would have an anti-dilutive effect.

Revenue Recognition

We currently work with third-party advertising networks selling online advertising on our forum and branded website
network on a cost per thousand impressions, cost per click or cost per action basis. All sales are recorded in
accordance with ASC 605, Revenue Recognition. Revenue is recognized when all the criteria have been met:

* When persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists.
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* The services have been provided to the customer.
* The fee is fixed or determinable.

* Collectability is reasonably assured.

Online Game

Our former wholly owned subsidiary Plaor operated Mega Fame Casino (“MFC”), a full-featured free-to-play online
social casino. MFC is available on Facebook, Google Play, and the Apple App Store. MFC generates revenue through
the sale of virtual currency to players that they may exchange to play at any of our online slot machines, video poker
machines, Hold’em style poker tables, or for other features and experiences available within MFC. Players can pay for
our virtual currency using Facebook credits (prior to July 2013) or Facebook local currency payments (beginning July
2013) when playing our games through Facebook and can use other payment methods such as credit cards or PayPal
on other platforms.

Revenue from the sale of virtual currency to players is recognized when the service has been provided to the player,
assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. We have determined that an implied obligation exists
by the Company to the paying player to continue displaying the purchased virtual goods within the online game over
their estimated life or until they are consumed. The proceeds from the sale of virtual goods are initially recorded as
deferred revenue. We recognize revenue as the goods are consumed, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria
have been met, which is generally over a period of 90 days. Deferred revenue associated with the operation MFC has
been presented as discontinued operations on our income statement and statement of financial position. Please see
Note 4 for additional detail.

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue consists primarily of the direct expenses incurred in order to generate revenue. Such costs are
recorded as incurred. We also record costs related to the fulfillment of specific customer advertising campaigns and
the costs associated with the manufacture and distribution of our synthetic human pheromone consumer products.

Employee Stock Based Compensation
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We account for employee stock option grants in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation. ASC
718 establishes standards for the accounting for transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for
goods or services. ASC 718 requires a public entity to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for
an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award. That cost will be recognized over the
period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award - the requisite service

period (usually the vesting period).

The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues. The
expected volatility is primarily based on historical volatility levels of our public company peer group. The expected
option life of each award granted was calculated using the “simplified method” in accordance with ASC 718.

We did not issue any employee stock based compensation during the years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015.

Non-employee Stock Based Compensation

We account for non-employee stock based compensation in accordance with ASC 505-50, Equity Payments to
Non-Employees. For awards with service or performance conditions, we generally recognize expense over the service
period or when the performance condition is met; however, there may be circumstances in which we determine that
the performance condition is probable before the actual performance condition is achieved. In such circumstances, the
amount recognized as expense is the pro rata amount, depending on the estimated progress towards completion of the
performance condition. Nonemployee share-based payments are measured at fair value, based on either the fair value
of the equity instrument issued. We determine the fair value of common stock grants based on the price of the
common stock on the measurement date (which is the earlier of the date at which a commitment for performance by
the counterparty to earn the equity instruments is reached, if there are sufficient disincentives to ensure performance,
or the date at which the counterparty’s performance is complete). We use historical data to estimate expected forfeiture
rate. For awards that are recognized when a performance condition is probable, the fair value is estimated at each
reporting date. The cost ultimately recognized is the fair value of the equity award on the date the performance
condition is achieved. Accordingly, the expense recognized may change between interim reporting dates and the date
the performance condition is achieved.
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We issue debt that may have separate warrants, conversion features, or no equity-linked attributes.

Debt with warrants — When we issue debt with warrants, we treat the warrants as a debt discount, record as a
contra-liability against the debt, and amortize the balance over the life of the underlying debt as amortization of debt
discount expense in the consolidated statements of operations. The offset to the contra-liability is recorded in our
consolidated balance sheet as either additional paid in capital in the case of equity treatment of the warrants or as
derivative liability in the case of liability treatment of the warrant. We determine the value of the warrants using the
Binomial Lattice Model using the stock price on the date of issuance, the risk free interest rate associated with the life
of the debt, and the volatility of our stock. If the debt is retired early, the associated debt discount is then recognized
immediately as amortization of debt discount expense in the consolidated statement of operations. The debt is treated
as conventional debt.

Convertible debt — derivative treatment — When we issue debt with a conversion feature, we must first assess whether
the conversion feature meets the requirements to be treated as a derivative, as follows: a) one or more underlyings,
typically the price of our common stock; b) one or more notional amounts or payment provisions or both, generally
the number of shares upon conversion; c) no initial net investment, which typically excludes the amount borrowed;
and d) net settlement provisions, which in the case of convertible debt generally means the stock received upon
conversion can be readily sold for cash. An embedded equity-linked component that meets the definition of a
derivative does not have to be separated from the host instrument if the component qualifies for the scope exception
for certain contracts involving an issuer’s own equity. The scope exception applies if the contract is both a) indexed to
its own stock; and b) classified in stockholders’ equity in its statement of financial position.

If the conversion feature within convertible debt meets the requirements to be treated as a derivative, we estimate the
fair value of the convertible debt derivative using binomial options pricing upon the date of issuance. If the fair value
of the convertible debt derivative is higher than the face value of the convertible debt, the excess is immediately
recognized as interest expense. Otherwise, the fair value of the convertible debt derivative is recorded as a liability
with an offsetting amount recorded as a debt discount, which offsets the carrying amount of the debt. The convertible
debt derivative is revalued at the end of each reporting period and any change in fair value is recorded as a gain or loss
in the consolidated statement of operations. The debt discount is amortized through interest expense over the life of
the debt.

During the fiscal years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 we determined that all of the embedded conversion features
associated with debt issued within the years qualified for embedded derivative treatment in accordance with ASC 815,
Derivatives and Hedging. As such, no future classification analysis was needed for additional testing for beneficial
conversion features.
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Modification of Debt Instruments

Modifications or exchanges of debt, which are not considered a troubled debt restructuring, are considered
extinguishments if the terms of the new debt and the original instrument are substantially different. The instruments
are considered substantially different when the present value of the cash flows under the terms of the new debt
instrument are at least 10% different from the present value of the remaining cash flows under the terms of the
original instrument. If the original and new debt instruments are substantially different, the original debt is
derecognized and the new debt is initially recorded at fair value, with the difference recognized as an extinguishment
gain or loss. See Note 13 for details on individual notes subject to modification during the fiscal year ended April 30,
2016.

Business Combinations

Amounts paid for acquisitions are allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair
value at the date of acquisition. The fair value of identifiable intangible assets is based on detailed valuations that use
information and assumptions provided by management, including expected future cash flows or management’s best
estimate when no valuation is obtained. We allocate any excess purchase price over the fair value of the net assets and
liabilities acquired to goodwill. Identifiable intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their useful lives.
Acquisition-related costs, including advisory, legal, accounting, valuation and other costs, are expensed in the periods
in which the costs are incurred. The results of operations of acquired businesses are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the acquisition date.

Discontinued Operations

Plaor, Inc. was sold on March 18, 2016 and has been presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
as discontinued operations in accordance with ASC 205-20 Discontinued Operations. As further discussed in Note 4,
the operations of our wholly-owned subsidiary, Plaor, were divested during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended
April 30, 2016 (“fiscal 2016”). All significant intercompany transactions and accounts are eliminated in consolidation.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit
price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability, in an orderly transaction between market
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participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy is based on three levels of
inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable, as follows:

Level L . . . e

1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level

Level Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the
3— measurement of the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Our financial instruments include cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payables. The carrying values of these
financial instruments approximate their fair value due to their short maturities. The carrying amount of our debt
approximates fair value because the interest rates on these instruments approximate the interest rate on debt with
similar terms available to us. Our derivative liability was adjusted to fair market value at the end of each reporting
period, using Level 3 inputs.
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Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes, income taxes payable and deferred income taxes are determined using the asset and
liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the
financial carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect in the years in
which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. On a periodic basis, the Company assesses the probability
that its net deferred tax assets, if any, will be recovered. If after evaluating all of the positive and negative evidence, a
conclusion is made that it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the net deferred tax assets will not be
recovered, a valuation allowance is provided by a charge to tax expense to reserve the portion of the deferred tax
assets which are not expected to be realized.

The Company reviews its filing positions for all open tax years in all U.S. federal and state jurisdictions where the
Company is required to file.

When there are uncertainties related to potential income tax benefits, in order to qualify for recognition, the position
the Company takes has to have at least a “more likely than not” chance of being sustained (based on the position’s
technical merits) upon challenge by the respective authorities. The term “more likely than not” means a likelihood of
more than 50 percent. Otherwise, the Company may not recognize any of the potential tax benefit associated with the
position. The Company recognizes a benefit for a tax position that meets the “more likely than not” criterion at the
largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon its effective resolution.
Unrecognized tax benefits involve management’s judgment regarding the likelihood of the benefit being sustained. The
final resolution of uncertain tax positions could result in adjustments to recorded amounts and may affect our results

of operations, financial position and cash flows.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
The Company had no accrual for interest or penalties at April 30, 2016 and April 30 2015, respectively, and has not
recognized interest and/or penalties during the years ended April 30, 2016 and April 30, 2015, respectively, since
there are no material unrecognized tax benefits. Management believes no material change to the amount of
unrecognized tax benefits will occur within in the next 12 months.

The tax years subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions include the years 2013 and forward by the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service.

Internal-Use Software Development Costs
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We expense costs as incurred for internal-use software during the preliminary stages of development. Costs incurred
during the application development stage are capitalized, subject to their recoverability. All costs incurred after the
software has been implemented and is fully operational are expensed as incurred. As of April 30, 2016 and 2015, we
have not capitalized any internal-use software development costs. All costs identified as software maintenance costs
have been expensed and reflected within our statement of operations as operating costs associated with normal
business activities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

FASB ASU 2016-15 “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230)” — In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, which
clarified the presentation of certain cash receipts and cash payments on the statement of cash flows. Previous GAAP
was either unclear or lacked specific guidance on the presentation of the items addressed in ASU 2016-15, as a result a
diversity of practice had developed. The amendment provides specific guidance on the presentation of eight specific
items on the statement of cash flows. This ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017,
and the interim periods within those fiscal years. We plan to evaluate the potential impact this standard will have on
our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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FASB ASU 2015-17"Income Taxes (Topic 740)” — In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, which
simplifies the presentation of deferred tax assets and liabilities on the balance sheet. Previous GAAP required an
entity to separate deferred income tax liabilities and assets into current and noncurrent amounts on the balance sheet.
The amendment requires that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified balance
sheet. This ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2018. We plan to evaluate the potential impact this standard will have on our
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

FASB ASU 2015-16 “Business Combinations (Topic 805),” or ASU 2015-16 - In September 2015, the FASB issued
ASU 2015-16, which requires that an acquirer recognize adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during
the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined. This ASU is
effective for interim and annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within
those fiscal years, with the option to early adopt for financial statements that have not been issued. We plan to
evaluate the potential impact this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

FASB ASU 2015-11 “Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory,” or ASU 2015-11 - In July
2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, which requires an entity to measure in scope inventory at the lower of cost and
net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less
reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. The amendments apply to inventory that is
measured using first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost. This ASU is effective for interim and annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2016, with the option to early adopt as of the beginning of an annual or interim
period. We do not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a significant impact on our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

FASB ASU 2015-03 “Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt
Issuance Cost,” or ASU 2015-03 - In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, which requires debt issuance costs
to be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the associated debt liability. This ASU is effective for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015, and the interim periods within those fiscal years. We do not expect
the adoption of this ASU to have a significant impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

FASB ASU 2015-02 “Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis,” or ASU 2015-02 - In
February 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-02, which changes the analysis that a reporting entity must perform to
determine whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities. This ASU is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2015 and we plan to evaluate the impact of adoption of this ASU on our
consolidated results of operations, cash flows and financial position.
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Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Accounting Standards Update, or FASB ASU 2016-12 “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” —In May 2016, the FASB issued 2016-12. The core principle of the
guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. ASU 2016-12 provides clarification on assessing collectability, presentation of sales taxes, noncash
consideration, and completed contracts and contract modifications. This ASU is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2017, with the option to adopt as early as December 15, 2016. We plan to evaluate the
impact of adoption of this ASU on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows and financial position.

FASB ASU 2016-11 “Revenue Recognition (Topic 605) and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815)” — In May 2016, the
FASB issued 2016-11, which clarifies guidance on assessing whether an entity is a principal or an agent in a revenue
transaction. This conclusion impacts whether an entity reports revenue on a gross or net basis. This ASU is effective
for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with the option to adopt as early as December 15,
2016. We plan to evaluate the impact of adoption of this ASU on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows
and financial position.
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FASB ASU 2016-10 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” —In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU
2016-10, clarify identifying performance obligations and the licensing implementation guidance, while retaining the
related principles for those areas. This ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2017, with the option to adopt as early as December 15, 2016. We plan to evaluate the impact of adoption of this ASU
on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows and financial position.

FASB ASU 2016-09 “Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718)” — In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU
2016-09, which includes multiple provisions intended to simplify various aspects of accounting for share-based
payments. While aimed at reducing the cost and complexity of the accounting for share-based payments, the
amendments are expected to significantly impact net income, earnings per share, and the statement of cash flows.
Implementation and administration may present challenges for companies with significant share-based payment
activities. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within
those fiscal years. We plan to evaluate the potential impact this standard will have on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.

FASB ASU 2016-02 “Leases (Topic 842)” — In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, which will require
lessees to recognize almost all leases on their balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. For income
statement purposes, the FASB retained a dual model, requiring leases to be classified as either operating or finance.
Classification will be based on criteria that are largely similar to those applied in current lease accounting, but
without explicit bright lines. Lessor accounting is similar to the current model, but updated to align with certain
changes to the lessee model and the new revenue recognition standard. This ASU is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 18, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. We plan to evaluate the
potential impact this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

2. GOING CONCERN

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes we will be able to
realize our assets and discharge our liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. We have
incurred a net loss of $5,048,000 for the year ended April 30, 2016 and have an accumulated deficit of $36,550,000 as
of April 30, 2016, and additional debt or equity financing will be required to fund our activities and to support our
operations. However, there is no assurance we will be able to obtain additional financing. Furthermore, there is no
assurance that rapid technological changes, changing customer needs and evolving industry standards will enable us to
introduce new products on a continual and timely basis so that profitable operations can be attained. These matters
raise substantial doubt of our ability to continuing operating as a going concern. Management believes that actions
presently being taken to further implement its business plan and generate additional revenues provide opportunity for
us to continue as a going concern. There can be no assurance that our efforts will translate in a beneficial manner. The
accompanying statements do not include any adjustments that might result should we be unable to continue as a going
concern.
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3. ACQUISITIONS

Plaor Merger

On May 19, 2014, we completed a merger agreement for 100% of the issued and outstanding common stock of Plaor,
Inc. (Plaor), a social gaming company, pursuant to which Plaor survived as our wholly-owned subsidiary (“Merger”).
We issued 55,075,800 shares of our $0.01 par value common stock to the shareholders of Plaor. These shares were
valued for accounting purposes at $0.11 per share which represented the closing share price of our stock on May 19,
2014, for a total purchase price of $6,058,000. The purchase price has been allocated in accordance with ASC 805 as
per management’s best estimate as follows:

42

84



Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

Cash and cash equivalents $102,000
Accounts receivable, Net 87,000
Prepaids and other assets 25,000
Property and equipment 18,000

Amortizable intangible assets:
Trademarks, trade name, licensing and branding 4,241,000

Goodwill allocated 1,817,000
Total assets acquired 6,290,000
Fair value of liabilities assumed (232,000 )
Net fair value $6,058,000
4. SALE OF PLAOR, INC. AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On March 18, 2016 we sold our wholly owned subsidiary Plaor, Inc. to Native Games America, LLC (“NGA”). The sale
allows us to focus more directly on our core online communities and digital cannabis businesses while also removing
approximately $1,848,000 of current debt and accrued interest from our balance sheet along with the elimination of
approximately $589,000 of liabilities related to Plaor, Inc.

The liabilities assumed and assets acquired by Native Games America, Inc. consisted of the following on March 18,
2016:

Liabilities Assumed:

Debt $1,600,000
Accrued interest 248,000
1,848,000
Accounts Payable 125,000
Deferred revenue 266,000
Accrued Liabilities 198,000
589,000
Note Payable to NGA 284,000
Payments received from NGA 200,000
484,000
Note Receivable 731,000
Total Consideration $3,652,000

Assets Acquired:
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Cash 7,000
Accounts receivable 42,000
Prepaids/Deposits 19,000
PPE 8,000
Intangibles 3,576,000
Total Assets $3,652,000
Gain (Loss) on Sale $-

At close of the transaction on March 18, 2016, NGA assumed $1,848,000 of debt and accrued interest, $589,000 of
outstanding liabilities and made cash payments of $200,000 to the Company and cash payments on behalf of Ploar to
settle liabilities of $284,000. The balance was a note receivable of $731,000. Based on discussion with the
management of NGA we impaired the balance in note receivable on our balance sheet to $0.

The Company has recorded terminating its operations of Plaor, Inc as of March 18, 2016, in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) No. 205-20, Discontinued Operations. As such, the historical results of
Plaor, Inc. have been adjusted to include discontinued-related costs and exclude corporate allocations with
CrowdGather, Inc and have been classified as discontinued operations in all periods presented.
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The following financial information presents the discontinued operations of Plaor, Inc.

2016 2015
Revenue $1,587,000 $1,744,000
Cost of revenue 443,000 550,000
Gross profit 1,144,000 1,194,000
Operating expenses
Payroll and related expenses 691,000 1,691,000
General and administrative 1,330,000 3,020,000
Total operating expenses 2,021,000 4,711,000
Other income (expense), net
Legal settlement - 175,000
Impairment of intangible assets (1,020,000 )
Total Other income (expense), net - (845,000 )
Net Loss $ (877,000 ) $ (4,362,000 )

Weighted average shares outstanding- basic and diluted 118,987,173 114,068,425

Net loss per share — basic and diluted $(0.01 ) $(0.04 )

For the years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 we recognized amortization of trademarks of $683,000 and $779,000,
respectively, which was included in general and administrative expenses.

During the year ended April 30, 2015 we received $175,000 related to a settlement agreement reached with
Hollywood Casinos, LLC concerning certain marks, social media accounts and domain names. We have recognized
the $175,000 as Other Income during that year related to discontinued operations.

As of April 30, 2015 we determined that the estimated fair value of our trademarks and goodwill did not exceed its
carrying value and therefore was impaired. We recorded an impairment of $653,000 on trademarks and $367,000 on
goodwill, for a total of $1,020,000.
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The following table presents the aggregate carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities associated with the
discontinued operations of Plaor, Inc.

APRIL 30, 2015

Current assets

Accounts receivable 131,000
Prepaid expenses and deposits 15,000
Total current assets 146,000
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $27,000 respectively 13,000
Goodwill 1,450,000
Intangible and other assets, net of accumulated amortization of $779,000 respectively 2,809,000
Total assets of discontinued operations 4,418,000

Current liabilities of discontinued operations

Accounts payable $ 73,000
Other accrued liabilities 628,000
Deferred revenue, net of deferred platform fees 379,000
Assigned notes payable disposed of in sale of Plaor, Inc - net of debt discount of $330,000 1,221,000
Total current liabilities of discontinued operations 2,301,000
Total liabilities of discontinued operations 2,301,000
Assigned debt

As a component of the consideration in the sale of our subsidiary Plaor, Inc to Native Games America, LLC (“NGA”).
Approximately $1,848,000 of debt principal plus all accrued interested related to the principal was assigned to NGA,
which is recorded in the accompanying statement of financial position at April 30, 2015 under Notes Payable disposed
of in the sale of Plaor, Inc. A discussion of the debt assigned to NGA follows.

Assigned Exchange Notes:

On December 1, 2014, we entered into a separate exchange agreement with each holder (collectively, the “Holders”) of
(i) shares of our Series B Preferred Stock (“Preferred Stock™), and (ii) warrants to purchase 10,000,000 shares of our
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common stock issued in connection with the Preferred Stock (the “Old Warrants”) pursuant to which we issued Secured
Promissory Notes (“Exchange Notes”) in the aggregate principal amount of $1,100,000 and warrants

to purchase 5,500,000 shares of our common stock (the “Exchange Warrants™) to the Holders in the amounts as
specified in the separate Exchange Agreements in exchange for all of the issued and outstanding Preferred Stock and
all of the Old Warrants held by the Holders. Following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by each
Exchange Agreement, the Preferred Stock and Old Warrants were no longer outstanding, and we removed from
reservation 30,000,000 shares of common stock underlying the Preferred Stock and Old Warrants. The Notes bear
interest at the rate of 12% per annum and were due and payable one year from the date of issuance. On March 18,
2016 and on April 30, 2015 outstanding principal was $1,100,000, unamortized debt discount was $0 and $256,000,
and accrued interest was $172,000 and $55,000 on those dates respectively. The Exchange Warrants grant the Holders
the right to purchase five shares of our common stock for every one dollar of principal of the Exchange Notes issued
to the Holders at an exercise price equal to $0.11 per share. The Exchange Warrants have an exercise term equal to
five years and are exercisable commencing on December 3, 2014. In connection with the issuance of the Exchange
Notes, we entered into a security agreement with the Holders to secure the timely payment and performance in full of
our obligations pursuant to the Exchange Notes. In connection with the sale of our subsidiary Plaor, Inc, all Exchange
Notes, principal of $1,100,000 and accrued interest of $172,000, was assigned to the buyer of Plaor, Inc on March 18,
2016. The warrants associated with the notes were detached and remain outstanding with CrowdGather, Inc. We
recognized the detached Exchange Warrants as equity instruments according to the guidance of ASC 480,
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity and recorded at relative fair value at the time of issuance according to ASC
470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options. On the date of issuance, the estimate relative fair value of the
warrants was approximately $334,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price $0.10, strike price
$0.11, volatility 146%, risk free rate 1.64%. Furthermore, we recognized the following: note payable of $1,100,000;
additional paid in capital of approximately $334,000; debt discount of approximately $334,000 the relative fair value
of the warrants and an additional debt discount of approximately $100,000, for a total debt discount of $434,000; and
the extinguishment of $1,000,000 worth of our Series B preferred shares.

For the period ended March 18, 2016, accreted debt discount and interest expense was approximately $256,000 and
$117,000, respectively and were included in continuing operations. For the year ended April 30, 2015, accreted debt
discount and interest expense was approximately $178,000 and $55,000, respectively. No interest payments were
made in 2016 or 2015.
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Assigned Secured Notes:

On November 20, 2014 and November 21, 2014, we entered into two Note and Warrant Purchase

Agreements with two investors (“Investors”) providing for the purchase of Secured Promissory Notes (‘“Notes”) in the
aggregate principal amount of $250,000 and warrants to purchase an aggregate amount of 1,250,000 shares of our
common stock (the “Warrants”). The Notes were issued on November 20, 2014 and November 21, 2014, respectively.
The Notes bear interest at the rate of 12% per annum and were due and payable one year from the date of issuance. On
March 18, 2016 and April 30, 2015 outstanding principal was $250,000, unamortized debt discount was $0 and
$41,000, and accrued interest was $39,000 and $13,000 on those dates respectively. The Warrants grant the Investors
the right to purchase five shares of our common stock for every one dollar of principal of the Notes purchased by the
Investors at an exercise price equal to 110% of the closing price of our common stock on the date of investment. The
Warrants have an exercise term equal to five years and are exercisable commencing on November 20, 2014 and
November 21, 2014, respectively. In connection with the issuance of the Notes, we entered into a security agreement
with the Investors to secure the timely payment and performance in full of our obligations pursuant to the Notes. . As
part of our sale of Plaor, Inc. on March 18, 2016 the Notes have been assigned to Native Games America, LLC, the
purchaser of Plaor, Inc. as a component of total consideration of the sale. The Warrants remained outstanding and
have been recognized as equity instruments according to the guidance of ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from
Equity and recorded the value at relative fair value at the time of issuance according to ASC 470-20, Debt with
Conversion and Other Options. On the date of issuance, the estimate relative fair value of the warrants was
approximately $73,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price $0.09, strike price $0.10,
volatility 146%, risk free rate 1.62%. Furthermore, we recognized the following: note payable of $250,000; additional
paid in capital of approximately $73,000; and debt discount of approximately $73,000.

For the period ended March 18, 2016, accreted debt discount and interest expense was approximately $41,000 and
$26,000, respectively and were included in continuing operations. For the year ended April 30, 2015, accreted debt
discount and interest expense was approximately $32,000 and $13,000, respectively.

On December 1, 2014, we entered a Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement with one investor providing for the
purchase of a Secured Promissory Note (“Note”) in the principal amount of $200,000 and warrants

to purchase 1,000,000 shares of our common stock (the “Warrants”). The Note was issued and funded on December 2,
2014. The Note bears interest at the rate of 12% per annum and was due and payable one year from the date of
issuance. The principal balance on March 18, 2016 and April 30, 2015 was $200,000 with accrued interest of $33,000
and $11,000 on those dates respectively. The Warrants grant the investor the right to purchase five shares of our
common stock for every one dollar of principal of the Note purchased by the investor at an exercise price of $0.11 per
share which is equal to 110% of the closing price of our common stock on the date of investment. The Warrants have
an exercise term equal to five years and are exercisable commencing on the date of issuance. In connection with the
issuance of the Note, we entered into a security agreement with the investor to secure the timely payment and
performance in full of our obligations pursuant to the Note. As part of our sale of Plaor, Inc. on March 18, 2016 the
Note have been assigned to Native Games America, LLC, the purchaser of Plaor, Inc. as a component of total
consideration of the sale. We recognized the detached Exchange Warrants as equity instruments according to the
guidance of ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity and recorded the value at relative fair value at the time of
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issuance according to ASC 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options. . On the date of issuance, the estimate
relative fair value of the warrants was approximately $58,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock
price $0.09, strike price $0.10, volatility 146%, risk free rate 1.62%. Furthermore, we recognized the following: note
payable of $200,000; additional paid in capital of approximately $58,000; and debt discount of approximately
$58,000.

For the period ended March 18, 2016, accreted debt discount and interest expense was approximately $33,000 and
$22,000, respectively and were included in continuing operations. For the year ended April 30, 2015, accreted debt
discount and interest expense was approximately $25,000 and $11,000, respectively.

46

92



Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

On July 16, 2015, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (Agreement) and related Security Agreement for
$50,000 with an investor. As part of the Agreement, we issued to the investor a Promissory Note whereby agreed
repay the $50,000 including interest at 12% or the maximum allowable under the law, whichever is lower. The note,
including interest was assigned to Native Games America, the purchaser of our former subsidiary Plaor, Inc. as a
comment of the sale of Plaor, Inc on March 18, 2016. The principal balance on March 18, 2016 was $50,000 with
accrued interest of $4,000.

For the period ended March 18, 2016 interest expense was approximately $4,000.

Any associated warrants with the notes were detached and remain outstanding with CrowdGather, Inc.

Investment in Plaor

As of April 30, 2015, we determined that the fair value of the non-goodwill intangible assets of Plaor, Inc did not
exceed its carrying value and therefore was impaired. We recorded an impairment charge of $653,000 and held a net
carrying value after impairment of $3,587,000, which was subsequently eliminated as a result of our sale of Plaor, Inc
(“Plaor”). Our determination was largely based on the short period we owned Plaor, Inc. and the resulting consideration
received on the sale of Plaor.

Goodwill

During the year ended April 30, 2015, we recorded $1,817,000 of goodwill relating to the merger with Plaor. The total
value of the acquisition was approximately $6,058,000 and has been allocated in accordance with ASC 805 as per our
management’s valuation estimate.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets
acquired in a business combination. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment on an annual basis and
between annual tests in certain circumstances. An impairment charge is recognized for the excess of the carrying value
of goodwill over its implied fair value.
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As of April 30, 2015, we determined that the fair value of the goodwill did not exceed its carrying value and therefore
was impaired. We recorded an impairment charge of $367,000 and held a net carrying value after impairment of
$1,450,000, which was subsequently eliminated as a result of our sale of Plaor, Inc (“Plaor”). Our determination was
largely based on the short period of time we owned Plaor, Inc. and the resulting consideration received on the sale of
Plaor.

S.NET LOSS PER SHARE

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the reporting period. We are in a net loss position and as such Diluted net loss per share is
calculated similarly to Basic net loss per share.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the denominators used in the computation of net loss per share — basic
and diluted:

Year ended April 30

2016 2015
Net loss from continuing operations (3,440,000 ) (2,868,000 )
Net loss from discontinued operations (1,608,000 ) (4,362,000 )
Net loss (5,048,000 ) (7,230,000 )

Weighted average outstanding shares of common stock 118,987,173 114,068,425
Dilutive effect of stock options and warrants - -
Common stock and equivalents 118,987,173 114,068,425

Basic and diluted

Loss from continuing operations (0.03 ) (0.03 )
Loss from discontinued operations (0.01 ) (0.04 )
Net loss (0.04 ) (0.07 )

The following instruments are currently antidilutive and have been excluded from the calculations of diluted income
or loss per share for the years ended April 30, as follows:

Year ended April 30
2016 2015

Common stock upon the conversion of debt 62,407,000 11,855,000
Warrants 7,750,000 8,590,000
Stock Options 3,264,000 4,554,000

73,421,000 24,999,000

6. PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

For the years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, we have recognized the minimum amount of franchise tax required
under California corporation law of $800. We are not currently subject to further federal or state tax since we have
incurred losses since our inception.
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As of April 30, 2016, we had federal and state net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $21,000,000 which
can be used to offset future federal income tax. The federal and state net operating loss carry forwards expire at
various dates through 2035. Deferred tax assets resulting from the net operating losses are reduced by a valuation
allowance, when, in our opinion, utilization is not reasonably assured. We also continue to be subject to examination
by the IRS and the state taxing authorities for the tax years 2009 to 2015.

As of April 30, 2016, we had the following deferred tax assets related to net operating losses. A 100% valuation
allowance has been established due to the uncertainty of our ability to realize future taxable income and to recover its
net deferred tax assets.

Year Ended April 30,2016  Year Ended April 30, 2015

Federal net operating loss (at 34%) $ 4,511,000 4,280,000
State net operating loss (at 8.84%) 1,173,000 1,113,000
5,684,000 5,393,000
Less: valuation allowance (5,684,000 ) (5,393,000 )
Net deferred tax assets $ - -

Our valuation allowance increased by $195,000 and $1,140,000 for the years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively.

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

April 30,2016  April 30, 2015

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment $ 31,000 $ 31,000
Computers, servers and equipment 594,000 593,000
625,000 624,000
Less: accumulated depreciation (614,000 ) (600,000 )
$ 11,000 $ 24,000

Depreciation expense was $14,000 and $99,000 for the years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangibles are either amortized over their estimated lives, if a definite life is determined, or are not amortized if their
life is considered indefinite. We account for the intangible assets at cost. Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination, if any, are recorded under the purchase method of accounting at their estimated fair values at the date of
acquisition. Intangibles consist of the following:
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Est. Life APRIL 30,2016 APRIL 30, 2015

Online forums and related websites Indefinite $ 4,216,000 $ 4,216,000
Less: Impairment (1,021,000 ) -
$ 3,195,000 $ 4,216,000

In accordance with ASC 350-30 General Intangibles Other Than Goodwill, we evaluate the remaining useful life of
our intangible assets not being amortized to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an
indefinite useful life. As of April 30, 2016 and 2015 we determined that our forum assets remained indefinite-lived
assets not subject to amortization. We considered factors including: expected cash flow, our historical experiences,
regulatory factors and the effects of possible obsolescence and maintenance required to support the assets.

As of April 30, 2016, we determined that the fair value of our online forums and related websites did not exceed its
carrying value and therefore was impaired. We recorded an impairment charge of approximately $1,021,000 and held
a net carrying value after impairment of $3,195,000. The impairment amount was determined using the income
approach and specifically the multi-period excess earnings method. We engaged the services of an independent
appraisal firm to conduct the impairment analysis according to US GAPP principles including ASC 350 Intangibles —
Goodwill and Other.

On April 8, 2015, we acquired the digital assets of Weedtracker.com and related online community in exchange for a
$5,000 cash payment due December 31, 2015 and 250,000 shares of our $0.001 par value common stock, valued for
accounting purposes at $0.08 per share which represented the closing share price on the closing date of the transaction
for a total stock based payment of $20,000. As a result, the total purchase price was $25,000.

On August 11, 2015, we acquired the digital assets of CouponsForWeed.com and related mobile application in
exchange for a $1,000 cash payment due at closing and 28,571 shares of our $0.001 par value common stock, valued
for accounting purposes at $0.05 per share which represented the volume weighted average share price on the closing
date of the transaction for a total stock based payment of $1,000. As a result, the total purchase price was $2,000.

9. RESTATED BALANCES

The Board of Directors and management of CrowdGather, Inc determined, after discussions with our independent
registered public accounting firm, concluded that, based on a review of the Company’s accounting for certain losses
related to the sale of certain intangible assets in April 2014 were not properly accounted for in prior years and the
related financial statements were materially misstated.
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In April 2014 we had entered into a definitive agreement to sell our website PBNation.com. Pursuant to the Web Site
Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”), we agreed to transfer and assign all right, title, and interest in the web site(s)
known as PBNation.com. The purchase price of the site as stated in the Agreement was $1,380,000. The Agreement
also stated escrow fees, known accrued receivables, and a $25,000 “holdback” would reduce the cash paid to us. A
portion of the $25,000 holdback amount would furthermore be due to us one year following the sale net of certain
accrued receivables paid to us but due to the buyer as per the terms of the Agreement. The loss on this sale of
$1,529,000 was previously reported as of the date of the transaction closing in May 2014. As a result of our analysis,
we have concluded that this loss should have been recorded as of April 30, 2014. Accordingly, the beginning
accumulated deficit balance for the year ended April 30, 2014 was restated.
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10. COMMON STOCK

On September 22, 2014 300,000 Restricted Stock Units were granted to Monarch Bay Securities for an advisory
engagement lasting six months. In consideration of the irrevocable nature of the granted shares and the performance
commitment embodied by engagement agreement, we have determined that a single measurement of fair value at the
time of the grant was appropriate in accordance with ASC 505--50--30--11(a). We subsequently recognized the fair
value of the Restricted Stock Units on a straight line basis over the term of the engagement in consideration of ASC
505--50--25--4.

In Fiscal 2015 we wrote down for-sale securities related to the investment in EROX that we had previously recorded
effects on other comprehensive income. The original value of the securities recorded was $50,000, with $29,000 in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income and the remaining $21,000 was originally recorded on the balance sheet
and written down to $0 in Fiscal 2015.

On April 8, 2015, we acquired the digital assets of Weedtracker.com and related online community and issued
250,000 shares of our $0.001 par value common stock, valued for accounting purposes at $0.08 per share which
represented the closing share price on the closing date of the transaction for a total stock based payment of $20,000.
The company determined the acquisition did not fall within the scope of ASC 805 Business Combinations; and that the
acquisition did not meet the definition of a business combination.

On August 11, 2015, we acquired the digital assets of CouponsForWeed.com and related mobile application and
issued 28,571 shares of our $0.001 par value common stock, valued for accounting purposes at $0.05 per share which
represented the volume weighted average share price on the closing date of the transaction for a total stock based
payment of $1,000. The company determined the acquisition did not fall within the scope of ASC 805 Business
Combinations; and that the acquisition did not meet the definition of a business combination.

On May 26, 2015 we granted 100,000 shares of restricted stock units, par value $0.001, for consulting services to the
company. Vesting of the restricted shares will take place over a 4-year period with %4 of the originally granted shares
vesting on each of four anniversaries. We recognize the fair value of each vesting as non-cash compensation over the
vesting period. As of April 30, 2016 we have recognized $1,000 of non-cash compensation expense related to this
grant. No stock units have vested and no shares of common stock have been issued.

On May 26, 2015 we granted 100,000 shares of restricted stock units, par value $0.001, for consulting services to the
company. Vesting of the restricted shares will take place over a 2-year period with 1/8 of the originally granted shares
vesting every 90 days following the grant date. We recognize the fair value of each vesting as non-cash compensation
over the vesting period at each vesting date. As of April 30, 2016 we have recognized $2,000 of non-cash
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compensation expense related to this grant. Approximately 38,000 of stock units have vested and no shares of
common stock have been issued.

On June 5, 2015 we granted 100,000 shares of restricted stock units, par value $0.001, for consulting services to the
company. Vesting of the restricted shares will take place over a 4-year period with Y of the granted shares vesting on
each anniversary date. We recognize the fair value of each vesting as non-cash compensation over the vesting period.
As of April 30, 2016 we have recognized $1,000 of non-cash compensation expense related to this grant.. No stock
units have vested and no shares of common stock have been issued.

On September 23, 2015 Typenex elected to fully exercise their Warrants and were issued 2,724,493 shares according
to the terms of the agreement. Upon the exercising of the warrant we remeasured the fair value of the warrant and
recognized a decrease in value of $21,000. Additionally, we extinguished the then outstanding derivative liability of
$131,000 with that amount recorded as common stock and additional paid in capital. See Note 13 for further
discussion.

On April 20, 2016 Iconic Holdings elected to convert $15,000 of the outstanding balance of the Second Note into our
common stock at a price of $0.01 per share. We issued to iconic 1,500,000 shares of our common stock and reduced
the outstanding balance by $15,000. As of April 30, 2016 the outstanding principal of the note was $147,000. Upon
conversion of the note, we recorded $325,000 as additional paid in capital related to the removal of the portion of the
embedded conversion feature. See Note 13 for further discussion.

11. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

In May 2008 our board of directors approved the CrowdGather, Inc. 2008 Stock Option Plan (the Plan). The Plan
authorizes a reserve of up to 12,000,000 shares and permits flexibility in types of awards, and specific terms of
awards, which will allow future awards to be based on then-current objectives for aligning compensation with
increasing long-term shareholder value.

For the years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, we recognized $59,000 and $266,000 of stock-based compensation
costs, respectively, as a result of the issuance of stock options to employees, directors and consultants in accordance
with ASC 718.

As April 30, 2016, total unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to unvested stock options was $20,000,
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.27 years.
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Stock option activity was as follows for the year ended April 30, 2016 and 2015:

Number of
Options

Outstanding, May 1, 2014 6,039,000

Granted 0
Forfeited/Expired (1,485,000
Exercised 0

Outstanding, April 30,

2015 4,554,000
Exercisable, April 30,

2015 3,418,000
Granted -
Forfeited/Expired (1,290,000
Exercised -
Outstanding, April 30,

2016 3,264,000
Exercisable, April 30,

2016 2,911,000

Weighted-Average

Exercise
Price
$ 0.75
) 0.33
$ 0.64
$ 0.83
) 0.29
0.78
0.87

Weighted-Average

Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
Contract Value

Term (Years)

7.89 $ 28,000
6.83 -
5.94 $ 24,000
5.25 $ 16,000
6.89 -
4.56 $ -
4.24 $ -

A summary of the status of our unvested shares related to the Plan as of April 30, 2016 and 2015 is presented below:

Number

of Shares
Non-vested balance, April 30, 2014 2,720,000
Granted -
Vested (285,000 )
Forfeited/Expired (1,299,000)
Non-vested balance, April 30, 2015 1,136,000
Granted -
Vested (285,000 )
Forfeited/Expired (498,000 )

Weighted-Average Grant-

Date Fair Value

$

$

0.15

0.07
0.33

0.07

0.01
0.29
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Non-vested balance, April 30, 2016 353,000 $ 0.06
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The warrant activity for the period starting May 1, 2014, through April 30, 2016, is described as follows:

Weighted-Average Exercise
Number of Shares Price

Outstanding, May 1, 2014 - $ -
Granted 18,590,000 0.11
Forfeited/Expired (10,000,000 ) 0.10
Exercised - -
Outstanding, April 30, 2015 8,590,000 0.11
Granted 1,884,493 0.05
Forfeited/Expired - -
Exercised (2,724,493 ) 0.05
Outstanding, April 30,2016 7,750,000 0.11

Following is a summary of the status of warrants outstanding at April 30, 2016

Weighted-Average

Exercise Price  Number of Shares Expiration Date . .
Exercise Price

$ 0.11 1,250,000 11/21/2019 $ 0.11
0.11 1,000,000 12/2/2019 0.11
$ 0.11 5,500,000 12/3/2019 0.11
Total 7,750,000 $ 0.11

See Notes 4 and 13 for further description of warrant activity.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

As of July 31, 2015, we lease approximately 1,309 square feet of office space located at 23945 Calabasas Road, Suite
115, Calabasas California. The term of our lease is six months. Our rent is $2,553 per month. The Company no longer

occupies this office space.
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As of the date of this report, we are not currently involved in any legal proceeding that we believe has a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results.

13. NOTES PAYABLE AND DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES

Related Party Notes

On April 13, 2015, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (Agreement) and related Security Agreement. Under
the Agreement, our CEO Sanjay Sabnani agreed to loan the Company $56,000. As part of the Agreement, we issued
to Mr. Sabnani a Promissory Note whereby we will repay the $56,000 including interest at 12% or the maximum
allowable under the law, whichever is lower. The note, including interest was due April 13, 2016. $6,000 was repaid
to Mr. Sabnani in July 2015. As of April 30, 2016 and 2015 the principal balance of the note was $50,000 and $56,000
with interest accrued and payable $7,000 and $1,000 respectively. On July 19, 2016 $50,000 principal balance and all
interest due was converted into the company’s common stock. A total of 5,793,267 shares were issued at a price of
$0.01 per share. Our common stock closing price on the date of conversion was $0.01.

On April 17, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $239,000 received from Mr. Sanjay Sabnani. The proceeds were
used to pay off a short-term convertible note issued to KBM Worldwide, Inc. on October 20, 2014, as well as to
provide us with $25,000 in working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the $239,000 including
interest at 12%. The note, including interest, was due October 20, 2015. Mr. Sabnani extended the maturity date to
April 15, 2017. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original instrument in accordance with ASC
470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments. As of April 30, 2016 and 2015 the balance of the note was $239,000 with
interest accrued and payable of $29,000 and $0 respectively.

On September 15, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $10,000 received from Mr. James Sacks, a member of our
board. The proceeds were used for general working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the
$10,000 including interest at 12%. The note, including interest, was due March 13, 2016. Mr. Sacks has granted a
waiver of default and maturity date extension. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original
instrument in accordance with ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments. The Note is now due April 15, 2017
with a principal balance of $10,000 with accrued and payable interest $1,000 as of April 30, 2016.

On September 15, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $10,000 received from Mr. Hazim Ansari, a member of our
board. The proceeds were used for general working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the
$10,000 including interest at 12%. The note, including interest, was due March 13, 2016. Mr. Ansari has granted a
waiver of default and maturity date extension. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original
instrument in accordance with ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments. The Note is now due April 15, 2017
with a principal balance of $10,000 with accrued and payable interest of $1,000 as of April 30, 2016.
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On September 17, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $10,000 received from Mr. Richard Corredera, our CFO.
The proceeds were used for general working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the $10,000
including interest at 12%. The note, including interest, was due March 15, 2016. Mr. Corredera has granted a waiver
of default and maturity date extension. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original instrument in
accordance with ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments. The Note is now due April 15, 2017 with a
principal balance of $10,000 with accrued and payable interest of $1,000 as of April 30, 2016.
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Promissory Notes and Note Purchase Agreements

During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, we entered into various Note Purchase Agreements and related Security
Agreement for total aggregate amount of $758,000 with Vinay Holdings. As part of the Agreement, we issued to
Vinay Holdings various Promissory Notes whereby we agreed repay the $758,000 including interest at 12% or the
maximum allowable under the law, whichever is lower. The notes, including interest were due within ranges from 60
days to one year from the respective issuances of the notes. Vinay holdings granted an extension of the maturity dates
and all of the notes are now due June 7, 2018. As of April 30, 2016 the aggregate principal balance of notes was
$758,000 with accrued and payable interest of $63,000. We accounted for the note extensions as and extinguishment
of the original instruments and the recognition of new notes in accordance with ASC 470-50 Modifications and
Extinguishments. We recognized neither a gain nor a loss as a result of the extinguishment.

Convertible Notes

In the follow paragraphs we outline the details of all convertible notes, including those extinguished during the years,
issued during the first years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015. We determined the conversion feature of the notes meet
the definition of a derivative under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging and require bifurcation and are accounted for
as separate embedded derivatives. We have estimated the fair market value of the embedded derivatives of the Notes
as the difference between the fair market value of the Notes with the conversion feature and the fair market value of
the Notes without the conversion feature associated with the embedded derivative, in both cases using relevant market
data. The fair market value of the conversion features were calculated using a binomial lattice model utilizing (1)
historical volatility factors calculated by historical observations of our common stock volatility over a period of time
similar to the terms of each specific interment, (2) a risk free rates based on the US Treasury Note rate over a similar
term as the specific instrument, and (3) discount conversion prices of our common stock consistent with each
instruments’ terms. The embedded conversion features were recorded as a debt discount and a derivative liability on
the balance sheet at their estimated fair values. If the fair value of the convertible debt derivative is higher than the
face value of the convertible debt, the excess is immediately recognized as interest expense. Debt discounts are
amortized over the life of the debt. The fair value of the embedded derivatives are also remeasured and recorded at fair
value at each subsequent reporting period with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of operations as a
gain or loss on derivative

We have recorded each of the instruments’ derivative liability balances on our balance sheet in the Derivative liabilities
account; the carrying amount of each host contract has been recorded in Convertible note payable; unamortized debt
discount has been recorded in Debt Discount; On our statement of operations we have recorded gains (losses)

resulting from fair value adjustments in Change in fair value of derivative liabilities and Gain on extinguishment of
debt; we have recognized the amortization costs in Interest expense, net
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KBM Worldwide, Inc

On October 23, 2014, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with KBM Worldwide, Inc. ("KBM")
providing for the purchase of a Convertible Promissory Note ("Note") in the aggregate principal amount of $154,000.
The Note was signed as of October 20, 2014 on that day, with the Company receiving $149,000 of net proceeds after
payment of KBM's legal fees. The Note bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum, was due and payable on July 21,
2015, and may be converted by KBM at any time after 180 days of the date of closing into shares of our common
stock at a conversion price equal to a 39% discount of the lowest closing bid price (as determined in the Note)
calculated at the time of conversion. The Note also contains certain representations, watranties, covenants and events
of default, and increases in the amount of the principal and interest rates under the Note in the event of such defaults.

We analyzed the embedded conversion feature of the convertible note payable in accordance to ASC 815, Derivatives
and Hedging and determined that the embedded conversion feature was a derivative liability. On the date of issuance,
the estimate fair value was approximately $149,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price
$0.11, strike price $0.07, volatility 149%, risk free rate 0.1%. As a result, we recognized the following: convertible
note payable of $154,000; derivative liability of approximately $149,000; debt discount of approximately $5,000
related to the original issue discount and debt discount of approximately $149,000 related to the derivative liability,
for a total debt discount of $154,000.

On April 20, 2015, we extinguished the note payable through a cash payment of approximately $214,000. The result
was a gain of approximately $41,000 due to the extinguishment of the note payable of $154,00, unamortized debt
discount of approximately $53,000, accrued interest of approximately $6,000, and derivative liability of
approximately $148,000. The derivative liability estimated fair value was determined using the lattice model and the
following inputs: stock price $0.08, strike price $0.04, volatility 150%, risk free rate 0.02%.

For the year ended April 30, 2015 accreted debt discount, interest expense, and the change in the estimated derivative
liability was approximately $10,000, $6,000, and $1,00 respectively.

On January 23, 2015, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with KBM Worldwide, Inc. ("KBM")
providing for the purchase of a Convertible Promissory Note ("Note") in the aggregate principal amount of $154,000.
The Note was signed as of January 23, 2015 and was funded on January 23, 2015, with the Company receiving
$150,000 of net proceeds after payment of KBM's legal fees. The Note bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum, was
due and payable on October 16, 2015, and may be converted by KBM at any time after 180 days of the date of closing
into shares our common stock at a conversion price equal to a 39% discount of the lowest closing bid price (as
determined in the Note) calculated at the time of conversion. The Note also contains certain representations,
warranties, covenants and events of default, and increases in the amount of the principal and interest rates under the
Note in the event of such defaults.
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We analyzed the embedded conversion feature of the convertible note payable in accordance to ASC 815, Derivatives
and Hedging, and determined that the embedded conversion feature was a derivative liability. On the date of issuance,
the estimate fair value was approximately $201,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price
$0.09, strike price $0.05, volatility 148%, risk free rate 0.08%. As a result, we recognized the following: convertible
note payable of $154,000; derivative liability of approximately $201,000; debt discount of approximately $4,000
related to the original issue discount and debt discount of approximately $150,000 related to the derivative liability,
for a total debt discount of $154,000; and interest expense of approximately $51,000.

As of April 30, 2015, the derivative liability estimated fair value was approximately $149,000 using the lattice model
and the following inputs: stock price $0.07, strike price $0.04, volatility 178%, risk free rate 0.1%. The result was the
recognition of a fair value adjustment of $52,000 in the accompanying statement of operations.

For the year ended April 30, 2016, accreted debt discount and interest expense were $45,000 and $3,000, respectively.
As of April 30, 2015, outstanding principal, unamortized debt discount and accrued interest were approximately
$154,000, $98,000 and $3,000, respectively. For the year ended April 30, 2015, accreted debt discount and interest
expense were approximately $56,000 and $3,000, respectively.

On July 16, 2015, the Note was assigned to Vinay Holdings (“Vinay”) as the result of a payment of approximately
$214,000 made to KBM by Vinay. The result was an extinguishment of the Note held by KBM and the simultaneous
creation of a new Note held by Vinay. The extinguishment of the KBM note resulted in a gain of approximately
$87,000 due to the extinguishment of the note payable of $154,000, unamortized debt discount of approximately
$53,000, accrued interest of approximately $6,000, and derivative liability of approximately $194,000. The derivative
liability estimated fair value was determined using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price $0.06, strike
price $0.03, volatility 283%, risk free rate 0.03%. The result was the recognition of a fair value adjustment of $45,000
in the accompanying statement of operations. Details of the newly created Vinay note can be found below the section
related to the July 16, 2016 Vinay Note.

Iconic Holdings. LI.C

Note #1

On February 13, 2015, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement with Iconic Holdings, LLC (“Iconic”) providing for
the purchase of a Convertible Promissory Note ("Note") in the aggregate principal amount of $108,000. On February
13, 2015, the Note was funded and we received $100,000 with $8,000 retained by Iconic through an original issue
discount for due diligence and legal expenses related to this transaction. The Note bears interest at the rate of 8% per
annum and was due and payable on February 13, 2016. Iconic had the right to convert any unpaid sums into our
common stock at the rate of 60% of the lowest trading price reported in the 15 days prior to date of conversion,
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subject to adjustment as described in the Note. The Note also provides that Iconic will not be permitted to convert any
portion of the note if the number of shares of our common stock beneficially owned by Iconic and its affiliates,
together with the number of shares of our common stock issuable upon any full or partial conversion, would exceed
9.99% of our outstanding shares of common stock.
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During the first 180 days following the date of the Note, we had the right to prepay the principal and accrued but
unpaid interest due under the Note, together with any other amounts we may owe the holder under the terms of the
Note, at a graduating premium ranging from 105% to 135% of face value. After this initial 180 day period, we did not
have a right to prepay the note without written consent from Iconic. The Note also contains certain representations,
warranties, covenants and events of default, and increases in the amount of the principal and interest rates under the
Note in the event of such defaults.

We analyzed the embedded conversion feature of the convertible note payable in accordance to ASC 815, Derivatives
and Hedging, and determined that the embedded conversion feature was a derivative liability. On the date of issuance,
the estimate fair value was approximately $122,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price
$0.07, strike price $0.04, volatility 161%, risk free rate 0.22%. As of April 30, 2015, the derivative liability estimated
fair value was approximately $130,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price $0.07, strike price
$0.04, volatility 183%, risk free rate 0.23%. The result was the recognition of a fair value adjustment of $8,000 in the
accompanying statement of operations. Furthermore, we recognized the following at inception: convertible note
payable of $108,000; derivative liability of approximately $122,000; debt discount of approximately $8,000 related to
the original issue discount and debt discount of approximately $100,000 related to the derivative liability, for a total
debt discount of $108,000; and interest expense of approximately $22,000.

As of April 30, 2015, outstanding principal, unamortized debt discount and accrued interest were approximately
$108,000, $86,000 and $2,000, respectively. For the year ended April 30, 2015, accreted debt discount and interest
expense were approximately $22,000 and $2,000, respectively.

For the year ended April 30, 2016, accreted debt discount, change in the estimated derivative liability, and interest
expense were approximately $30,000 $68,000, and $6,000, respectively.

On August 10, 2015, we extinguished the note payable through a cash payment of approximately $154,000. The result
was a gain of approximately $18,000 due to the extinguishment of the note payable of $108,000, unamortized debt
discount of approximately $56,000, accrued interest of approximately $8,000, and derivative liability of
approximately $112,000. The derivative liability estimated fair value was determined using the lattice model and the
following inputs: stock price $0.05, strike price $0.03, volatility 169%, risk free rate 0.19%.

Note #2

On September 21, 2015, we entered into an additional Note Purchase Agreement with Iconic providing for the
purchase of a second Convertible Promissory Note ("Second Note") in the aggregate principal amount of $162,000.
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On September 21, 2015, the Second Note was funded and we received $150,000 with $12,000 retained by Iconic
through an original issue discount for due diligence and legal expenses related to this transaction. The proceeds of the
Second Note where used to extinguish the outstanding JMJ Financial note (see below) in addition to general working
capital. The Second Note bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum, was due and payable on February 13, 2016.
Iconic shall have the right to convert any unpaid sums into our common stock at the rate of 60% of the lowest trading
price reported in the 15 days prior to date of conversion, subject to adjustment as described in the Second Note. The
Second Note also provides that Iconic will not be permitted to convert any portion of the note if the number of shares
of our common stock beneficially owned by Iconic and its affiliates, together with the number of shares of our
common stock issuable upon any full or partial conversion, would exceed 9.99% of our outstanding shares of common
stock.

During the first 180 days following the date of the Second Note, we had the right to prepay the principal and accrued
but unpaid interest due under the Second Note, together with any other amounts we may owe the holder under the
terms of the Second Note, at a graduating premium ranging from 105% to 135% of face value. After this initial 180
day period, we do not have a right to prepay the note without written consent from Iconic. The Second Note also
contains certain representations, warranties, covenants and events of default, and increases in the amount of the
principal and interest rates under the Second Note in the event of such defaults.
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We analyzed the embedded conversion feature of the convertible note payable in accordance to ASC 815, Derivatives
and Hedging, and determined that the embedded conversion feature was a derivative liability. On the date of issuance,
the estimate fair value was approximately $1,480,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price
$0.12, strike price $0.01, volatility 179%, risk free rate 0.37%. As a result, we recognized the following: convertible
note payable of $162,000; derivative liability of approximately $1,480,000; debt discount of approximately $12,000
related to the original issue discount and debt discount of approximately $150,000 related to the derivative liability,
for a total debt discount of $162,000; and interest expense of approximately $1,330,000.

On March 18, 2016, we entered into an amendment and extension agreements with Iconic that provided for an
extension of the earliest conversion date to April 20, 2016 for a payment to Iconic of $25,000. On April 15, 2016 we
entered into a second amendment and extension agreement with Iconic providing for a fixed price at $.01 per share,
except that if our common stock closes below $.01 for three consecutive trading days, Iconic can put the Note to us
requiring us to pay Iconic the balance due, including interest, within 30 days, plus a premium of 20% thereupon. An
additional amendment to Note provisions is, that at any time prior to conversion of any remaining portion of the
Iconic Note, we may offer cash to Iconic for the outstanding balance due plus a 20% premium on such balance, and
Iconic shall thereupon accept the offered payment or convert the balance to common stock at $.01 per share within 72
hours by written notice to us.

Based on the modifications, we determined that the embedded conversion feature met the criteria for extinguishment
in accordance with ASC 470-50 that would require the recognition of a gain or loss. We determined the estimated fair
value of the embedded conversion feature immediately prior to the modification to be approximately $163,000 using
the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price $0.01, strike price $0.01, volatility 178%, risk free rate 0.36%.
As a result, we recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $214,000 in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations based on elimination of the derivative liability of approximately $1,480,000 and
unamortized debt discount of approximately $52,000, recognition of approximately $325,000 in additional paid in
capital in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, and recognized a fair value adjustment of approximately
$1,317,000.

For the year ended April 30, 2016, accreted debt discount and interest expense were approximately $110,000 and
$8,000, respectively.

On April 20, 2016 Iconic Holdings elected to convert $15,000 of the outstanding balance of the Second Note into our
common stock at a price of $0.01 per share. We issued to iconic 1,500,000 shares of our common stock and reduced
the outstanding balance by $15,000. As of April 30, 2016 the outstanding principal of the note was $147,000 and
accrued interest of $8,000. Upon conversion of the note, we recorded $325,000 as additional paid in capital related to
the removal of the portion of the embedded conversion feature.
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On October 7, 2016 Iconic Holdings notified us (“Default Notice”) of a default under the terms of the Second Note. As
of the date of Default Notice the outstanding principle balance of the Second Note was $57,000 with $13,607 of
interest payable. We are currently in active discussions with Iconic Holdings to cure the default status of the Second
Note.

JMJ Financial

On March 24, 2015, we issued to JMJ Financial (the “Investor”) a convertible promissory note in the principal amount
of $72,000 with an original issue discount of $7,000 (the “Note”). The Note is due in March 2017. As of March 25,
2015, the Investor funded $65,000 pursuant the Note. We may repay the Investor within 90 days of issuance without
any interest payment. Thereafter, we may not make any payment until the Note matures, unless such payment is
approved by the Investor. Interest accrues at the rate of 12% per annum with respect to any payment made after the
initial 90-day period. At any time after 180 days of the Effective Date, the Investor may convert all or part of the Note
into shares of our common stock at (a) the lesser of $0.08 or (b) 65% of the lowest trading price in the 25 trading days
prior to the conversion.
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We analyzed the embedded conversion feature of the convertible note payable in accordance to ASC 815, Derivatives
and Hedging, and determined that the embedded conversion feature was a derivative liability. On the date of issuance,
the estimate fair value was approximately $115,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price
$0.08, strike price $0.04, volatility 183%, risk free rate 0.64%. As of April 30, 2015, the derivative liability estimated
fair value was approximately $98,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price $0.07, strike price
$0.04, volatility 183%, risk free rate 0.54%. The result was the recognition of a fair value adjustment of $17,000 in the
accompanying statement of operations. Furthermore, we recognized the following: convertible note payable of
$72,000; derivative liability of approximately $115,000; debt discount of approximately $7,000 related to the original
issue discount and debt discount of approximately $65,000 related to the derivative liability, for a total debt discount
of $72,000; and interest expense of approximately $50,000.

As of April 30, 2015, outstanding principal, unamortized debt discount and accrued interest were approximately
$72,000, $68,000 and $1,000, respectively. For the year ended April 30, 2015, accreted debt discount and interest
expense were approximately $4,000 and $1,000, respectively.

On September 22, 2015, we extinguished the note payable through a cash payment of approximately $122,000. The
result was a gain of approximately $81,000 due to the extinguishment of the note payable of $72,000, unamortized
debt discount of approximately $54,000, accrued interest of approximately $4,000, and derivative liability of
approximately $181,000. The derivative liability estimated fair value was determined using the lattice model and the
following inputs: stock price $0.08, strike price $0.03, volatility 169%, risk free rate 0.71%.

For the year ended April 30, 2016, the change in estimated fair value of the derivative liability was approximately
$83,000.

For the year ended April 30, 2016, accreted debt discount and interest expense were approximately $14,000 and
$3,000, respectively.

Typenex Co-Investment. LI.C

On March 2, 2015, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Typenex Co-Investment, LLC ("Typenex"),
for the sale of a 10% convertible note in the principal amount of $168,000 (which includes Typenex legal expenses in
the amount of $3,000 and a $15,000 original issue discount) (the “Note”) in exchange for proceeds of $150,000 to the
Company.
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The Note bears interest at the rate of 10% per annum. All interest and principal was payable on February 2, 2016. The
Note is convertible into common stock, at Typenex’s option, at the lesser of (i) $0.10, and (ii) 65% (the “Conversion
Factor”) of the average of the three (3) lowest Closing Bid Prices in the twenty (20) Trading Days immediately
preceding the applicable conversion, provided that if at any time the average of the three (3) lowest Closing Bid Prices
in the twenty (20) Trading Days immediately preceding any date of measurement is below $0.05, then in such event
the then-current Conversion Factor shall be reduced to 60% for all future Conversions, subject to other reductions set
forth in the Note. In the event we elect to prepay all or any portion of the Note, we are required to pay to Typenex an
amount in cash equal to 125% multiplied by the sum of all principal, interest and any other amounts owing. The Note
includes customary event of default provisions.

Typenex had agreed to restrict its ability to convert the Note and receive shares of our common stock such that the
number of shares of common stock held by them in the aggregate and their affiliates after such conversion or exercise
does not exceed 4.99% of the then issued and outstanding shares of common stock. The Note is a debt obligation
arising other than in the ordinary course of business, which constitutes a direct financial obligation of the Company.
The Note also provides for penalties and rescission rights if we do not deliver shares of our common stock upon
conversion within the required timeframes.

We analyzed the embedded conversion feature of the convertible note payable in accordance to ASC 815, Derivatives
and Hedging, and determined that the embedded conversion feature was a derivative liability. On the date of issuance,
the estimate fair value was approximately $169,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price
$0.07, strike price $0.04, volatility 148%, risk free rate 0.25%. As of April 30, 2015, the derivative liability estimated
fair value was approximately $159,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price $0.07, strike price
$0.04, volatility 156%, risk free rate 0.23%. The result was the recognition of a fair value adjustment of $10,000 in the
accompanying statement of operations. Furthermore, we recognized the following at inception: convertible note
payable of $168,000; derivative liability of approximately $169,000 related to the conversion feature and $153,000
related to the warrant; debt discount of approximately $18,000 related to the original issue discount and debt discount
of approximately $150,000 related to the derivative liability, for a total debt discount of $168,000; and interest
expense of approximately $172,000. As of April 30, 2015, outstanding principal, unamortized debt discount and
accrued interest were approximately $168,000, $139,000 and $3,000, respectively. For the year ended April 30, 2015,
accreted debt discount and interest expense were approximately $29,000 and $3,000, respectively.
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On July 30, 2015, we extinguished the note payable through a cash payment of approximately $219,000. The result
was a gain of approximately $40,000 due to the extinguishment of the note payable of $168,000, unamortized debt
discount of approximately $93,000, accrued interest of approximately $7,000, and derivative liability of
approximately $177,000. The derivative liability estimated fair value was determined using the lattice model and the
following inputs: stock price $0.06, strike price $0.03, volatility 173%, risk free rate 0.14%.

For the year ended April 30, 2016, the change in estimated fair value of the derivative liability was approximately
$18,000.

For the year ended April 30, 2016, accreted debt discount and interest expense were approximately $46,000 and
$4,000, respectively.

Additionally, we granted Typenex warrants (“Warrants”) to purchase shares of our common stock, $.001 par value. The
Warrants entitled the holder to purchase a number of shares equal to $84,000 divided by the Conversion Factor
multiplied by the average of the three (3) lowest Closing Bid Prices in the twenty (20) Trading Days immediately
preceding March 2, 2015, as such number may be adjusted from time to time pursuant to the terms of the Warrants.
The Warrants are exercisable for five years at $0.10 per share subject to certain anti-dilution provisions set forth in the
Warrants. Under the provision of ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity we initially recorded the warrant as
a liability on our balance sheet in Derivative liabilities. As of April 30, 2015 we had recorded a derivative liability
related to the warrant of $152,000 on our balance sheet with $1,000 recognized as a change in the fair value of the
derivative liability. On September 23, 2015 Typenex elected to fully exercise their Warrants and were issued
2,724,493 shares according to the terms of the agreement. Upon the exercising of the warrant we remeasured the fair
value of the warrant and recognized a decrease in value of $21,000. Additionally, we extinguished the then
outstanding derivative liability of $131,000 with that amount recorded as common stock and additional paid in capital.

Vinay Holdings

On May 4, 2015, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Vinay Holdings. ("Vinay") providing for the
purchase of a Convertible Promissory Note ("Note") in the aggregate principal amount of $150,000. The Note bears
interest at the rate of 8% per annum, was due and payable on November 4, 2015, and may be converted by Vinay at
any time after 180 days of the date of closing into shares our common stock at a conversion price equal to a 39%
discount of the lowest closing bid price (as determined in the Note) calculated at the time of conversion. The Note also
contains certain representations, warranties, covenants and events of default, and increases in the amount of the
principal and interest rates under the Note in the event of such defaults. Vinay extended the maturity date of the note
to June 7, 2018. We accounted for the modification of the original instrument according to ASC 470-50 Modifications
and Extinguishments. For the year ended April 30, 2016, we have recorded $12,000 of stated interest expense and
$46,000 of amortized debt discount which we recognized on our statement of operations as stated interest and
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issuance (expense) and Debt discount (expense) respectively. We analyzed the embedded conversion feature of the
convertible note payable in accordance to ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and determined that the embedded
conversion feature was a derivative liability. On the date of issuance, the estimate fair value was approximately
$219,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price $0.07, strike price $0.04, volatility 168%, risk
free rate 0.98%. As of April 30, 2016, the derivative liability estimated fair value was approximately $350,000 using
the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price $0.02, strike price $0.01, volatility 217%, risk free rate 0.77%.
The result was the recognition of a fair value adjustment of $131,000 in the accompanying statement of operations.
Furthermore, we recognized the following at inception: convertible note payable of $150,000; derivative liability of
approximately $219,000; debt discount of approximately $150,000 related to the derivative liability; and interest
expense of approximately $69,000. For the year ended April 30, 2016, accreted debt discount and interest expense
were $46,000 and $12,000, respectively. As of April 30, 2016, outstanding principal, unamortized debt discount and
accrued interest were approximately $150,000, $104,000 and $12,000, respectively
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In addition on June 5, 2015, we entered into a similar Securities Purchase Agreement with Vinay Holdings. ("Vinay")
providing for the purchase of a Convertible Promissory Note ("Note") in the aggregate principal amount of $100,000.
The Note bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum, was due and payable on October 16, 2015, and may be converted
by Vinay at any time after 180 days of the date of closing into shares our common stock at a conversion price equal to
a 39% discount of the lowest closing bid price (as determined in the Note) calculated at the time of conversion. The
Note also contains certain representations, warranties, covenants and events of default, and increases in the amount of
the principal and interest rates under the Note in the event of such defaults. Vinay extended the maturity date of the
note to June 7, 2018. We accounted for the modification of the original instrument according to ASC 470-50
Modifications and Extinguishments. For the year ended April 30, 2016 and as of that date, we have recorded $7,000 of
stated interest expense and $29,000 of amortized debt discount which we recognized on our statement of operations as
stated interest and issuance (expense) and Debt discount (expense) respectively. We analyzed the embedded
conversion feature of the convertible note payable in accordance to ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and
determined that the embedded conversion feature was a derivative liability. On the date of issuance, the estimate fair
value was approximately $160,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price $0.07, strike price
$0.04, volatility 168%, risk free rate 0.1.07%. As of April 30, 2016, the derivative liability estimated fair value was
approximately $234,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price $0.02, strike price $0.01,
volatility 217%, risk free rate 0.77%. The result was the recognition of a fair value adjustment of $74,000 in the
accompanying statement of operations. Furthermore, we recognized the following at inception: convertible note
payable of $100,000; derivative liability of approximately $160,000; debt discount of approximately $100,000 related
to the derivative liability; and interest expense of approximately $60,000. For the year ended April 30, 2016, accreted
debt discount and interest expense were $29,000 and $7,000, respectively. As of April 30, 2016, outstanding principal,
unamortized debt discount and accrued interest were approximately $100,000, $71,000 and $7,000, respectively

On July 16, 2015 Vinay was assigned the Note formerly held by KBM Worldwide, Inc. dated January 23, 2015. The
note was due and payable on October 16, 2015. Vinay extended the maturity date of the note to June 7, 2018. We
accounted for the modification of the original instrument according to ASC 470-50 Modifications and
Extinguishments. The assignment was the result of our prepayment of the Note to KBM Worldwide, Inc. with funds
invested by Vinay Holdings expressly for the purpose of the Note assignment. For the year ended April 30, 2016 and
as of that date, we have recorded $10,000 of stated interest expense and $40,000 of amortized debt discount which we
recognized on our statement of operations as stated interest and issuance (expense) and Debt discount (expense)
respectively. We analyzed the embedded conversion feature of the convertible note payable in accordance to ASC
815, Derivatives and Hedging, and determined that the embedded conversion feature was a derivative liability. On the
date of issuance, the estimate fair value was approximately $262,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs:
stock price $0.06, strike price $0.03, volatility 175%, risk free rate 1.03%. As of April 30, 2016, the derivative
liability estimated fair value was approximately $359,000 using the lattice model and the following inputs: stock price
$0.02, strike price $0.01, volatility 212%, risk free rate 0.77%. The result was the recognition of a fair value
adjustment of $97,000 in the accompanying statement of operations. Furthermore, we recognized the following at
inception: convertible note payable of $154,000; derivative liability of approximately $262,000; debt discount of
approximately $154,000 related to the derivative liability; and interest expense of approximately $108,000. For the
year ended April 30, 2016, accreted debt discount and interest expense were $40,000 and $10,000, respectively. As of
April 30, 2016, outstanding principal, unamortized debt discount and accrued interest were approximately $154,000,
$114,000 and $10,000, respectively
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14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On May 10, 2016 we received a notice of conversion from Iconic Holdings, LLC (“Iconic”) related to the note originally
issued to them on September 21, 2015. Iconic elected to convert $20,000 of the outstanding balance of the note to our
common stock at a price of $0.01 per share as per our second amendment of the note dated April 15, 2016. We
subsequently issued Iconic 2,000,000 shares of common stock. The remaining principal balance of the note following
the issuance of shares was $127,000.

On May 24, 2016 we received a notice of conversion from Iconic Holdings, LLC (“Iconic”) related to the note originally
issued to them on September 21, 2015. Iconic elected to convert $20,000 of the outstanding balance of the note to our
common stock at a price of $0.01 per share as per our second amendment of the note dated April 15, 2016. We
subsequently issued Iconic 2,000,000 shares of common stock. The remaining principal balance of the note following
the issuance of shares was $107,000.

On June 7, 2016, we issued a Promissory Note for $50,000 received from an individual. The proceeds were to
provide us with working capital. Under the terms of the Note, the balance of the note will be converted into our
shares of our common stock at a price of $0.01 per share on the 90t day following the issuance of the note.

On June 7, 2016, we issued a Promissory Note for $75,000 received from an individual. The proceeds were to
provide us with working capital. Under the terms of the Note, the balance of the note will be converted into our
shares of our common stock at a price of $0.01 per share on the 90t day following the issuance of the note.

On June 23, 2016, we granted to three individuals an aggregate amount of 500,000 options to purchase shares of
common stock of the Company, under the 2008 Stock Option Plan, at a purchase of $0.01 per share. The stock options
vest quarterly over a two year period and expire on the earlier of six months from the end of the business relationship
or June 23, 2026.

On June 28, 2016, we issued a Promissory Note for $75,000 received from an individual. The proceeds were to
provide us with working capital. Under the terms of the Note, the balance of the note will be converted into our
shares of our common stock at a price of $0.01 per share on the 90t day following the issuance of the note.

On July 19, 2016, Crowdgather, Inc. (the "Company") issued 5,793,267 shares of restricted common stock to Sanjay
Sabnani (CEO) related to a $56,000 loan on April 13, 2014. The shares were issued pursuant to a settlement of a
Promissory Note. Mr. Sabnani converted the remaining $57,932.67 due to him into 5,793,267 shares of restricted
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common stock of CrowdGather, Inc. The conversion rate was $0.01 per share and this conversion extinguishes the
Note.

On September 6, 2016, we issued a Promissory Note for $27,500 received from an individual. The proceeds were to
provide us with working capital. Under the terms of the Note, the balance of the note will be converted into our
shares of our common stock at a price of $0.01 per share on the 90t day following the issuance of the note.

On September 9, 2016, we issued a Promissory Note for $25,000 received from an individual. The proceeds were to
provide us with working capital. Under the terms of the Note, the balance of the note will be converted into our
shares of our common stock at a price of $0.01 per share on the 90t day following the issuance of the note.

On October 24, 2016, we issued a Promissory Note for $50,000 received from Sanjay Sabnani, our Chief Executive
Officer. The proceeds were to provide us with working capital. Under the terms of the Note, the balance of the note
and interest at a rate of 12% per year will be due 18 months from the issuance of the Note.

On November 11, 2016 CrowdGather entered into a licensing agreement for its free forum communities (including
Yuku.com, Freeforums.org, Forumer.com, and Lefora.com) with Tapatalk, Inc. in order to address needs for greater
engineering and infrastructure support. As a result of this agreement, Tapatalk will pay CrowdGather license fees
including an upfront payment covering the first six months of operations of $100,000 received on November 16,
2016. After the initial six months, Tapatalk will make royalty payments amounting to no less than $10,000 per month
and no more than $30,000 per month. $5000 will be withheld for costs. Tapatalk will take over all costs and
operations of the hosted forum business thereby allowing CrowdGather to focus its resources on developing a mobile
application for its relaunch of WeedTracker.com in the first half of 2017.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

On or about March 23, 2016, CrowdGather, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the "Company") engaged Hall & Company
Certified Public Accountants, Inc. ("New Accountant") to audit and review the Company's financial statements for the
fiscal year ending April 30, 2016, and to review the Corporation’s unaudited financial statements for the quarterly
periods beginning with the quarter ended January 31, 2016. The New Accountant has been engaged for general audit
and review services and not because of any particular transaction or accounting principle, or because of any
disagreement with the Company's former accountant, Q Accountancy Corporation (the "Former Accountant").

On February 25, 2016, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") ordered the temporary suspension of
Timothy Quintanilla, CPA, the Company’s engagement partner and owner of Q Accountancy Corporation, from
practicing as an accountant on behalf of any publicly traded company or other entity regulated by the SEC. The
Former Accountant was dismissed effective March 21, 2016. The Former Accountant's reports on the Company's
financial statements during its past two fiscal years did not contain an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor
was it modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles, except for a going concern qualification
contained in its audit report for the fiscal years ending April 30, 2015 and 2014. The decision to change accountants
was recommended and approved by the Company's Board of Directors. During the fiscal years ended April 30, 2015,
April 30, 2014 and April 30, 2013 through the date hereof, the Company did not have any disagreements with the
Former Accountant on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing
scope or procedure, which disagreements if not resolved to the satisfaction of the Former Accountant would have
caused them to make reference in connection with their report to the subject of the disagreement(s).

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS & PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time period specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is accumulated
and communicated to management including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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In connection with this annual report, as required by Rule 15d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we have
carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our company's disclosure controls and
procedures. Under the supervision of our board of directors, management has conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”) as of April 30, 2016 and 2015 based on Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO”). Based on our evaluation under the framework, our management concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was not effective as of April 30, 2016 and 2015. Subject to the inherent limitations noted in this
Part II, Item 9A(T) as of April 30, 2016 and 2015, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to the
ineffectiveness of our ICFRs as discussed below.

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate ICFRs as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Management is responsible for maintaining evidential matter to provide
reasonable support for its assessment.

ICFR cannot provide absolute assurance due to inherent limitations involving human involvement and the possibility
for to lapses in judgment and other human failures to interfere or prevent the effective implementation of ICFR. ICFR
can also be rendered ineffective by direct interference such as collusion or improper management override. As a result
of such human involvement, ICFR cannot prevent or detect all misstatement either unintentional or fraudulent. ICFR
can however be designed with these limitations in mind to reduce, not eliminate, the risk of financial misstatement.

Due to the reasons discussed below, management concluded that ICFR was ineffective for the fiscal years ended April
30, 2016 and 2015. Management determined the deficiencies discussed below increased the likelihood that a
misstatement of the Company’s financial statements would not be prevented or detected. Management identified three
control deficiencies influencing the effectiveness of ICFR

1) Insufficient separation of duties
The company’s staffing levels do not allow us to properly separate responsibilities to effectively limit the possibilities
of misstatement. Although there is no single authority on the definitive structure of separation de-facto practices
typically include separation along the lines of a) Custody — Physical control/access to assets, b) Authorization —
Authority to approve transactions, ¢) Record Keeping — Preservation of books and records related to transactions, and
d) Periodic Reconciliation — Verification of the proper reporting and authorization of transactions.
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As a result of the small staff within the company these four responsibilities may not always be effectively separated
and may further but subject to management override. Management has implemented a number of compensating
controls to mitigate the risk associated with the deficiency related to separation of duties. Compensating controls are
themselves not an ideal mitigation technique but absent superior alternatives can be effective in the reduction of risk.
Longer terms remediation strategies include increasing the number of staff with proper training to allow for more
effective separation of duties within the company.

2) Insufficient revenue records retention
In the course of our annual audit for fiscal year ended April 30, 2015 we became aware of certain missing records
related to our end-user sales and non-guaranteed display revenue. Although the missing records were overall a small
percentage of our overall revenue records the deficiency exposed the potential for a failure to properly support all
relevant transaction of the company. The company has since reevaluated its records retention policy, which was
improved prior to the detection of the missing reports, and has since taken additional steps to better control internal
record keeping procedures.

3) Insufficient review function
We do not have adequate review and supervision procedures for financial reporting functions. The review and
supervision function of internal control relates to the accuracy of financial information reported. The failure to review
and supervise could allow the reporting of inaccurate or incomplete financial information. Due to our size and nature,
review and supervision may not always be possible or economically feasible. The insufficient review procedure has
over the period of this report been a contributing factor to improper bookkeeping such as failures to adhere to US
GAAP and general bookkeeping errors. Such failures have resulted in our need to conduct additional corrective
procedures and correct errors related to previous period losses and current period recording of certain derivative
instruments.
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This report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding
ICFR. The report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules
of the SEC (Release NOS. 33-9142;34-62914) that permit us to provide only management’s report of ICFR.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of the year ended
April 30, 2016, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Executive Officers and Directors.

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officer and directors.

Name Age Position

Sanjay Sabnani 45 CEO, President, Secretary, Director and Chairman of the Board
Richard Corredera 38 Chief Financial Officer

James A. Sacks 49 Director

Chuck Timpe 69 Director

Hazim Ansari 44  Director
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Sanjay Sabnani. Sanjay Sabnani is our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President, and Secretary since April 2,
2008 and became one of our directors shortly thereafter. Mr. Sabnani founded General Mayhem, LL.C in May 2004.
While building General Mayhem, LLC’s operations and network communities Mr. Sabnani has served senior executive
roles in several public companies including: executive vice president, strategic development at Hythiam, Inc. (now
Catasys Inc.; NASDAQ:CATS) from April 2004 to December 2007; and president and director at Venture Catalyst,
Inc. (NASDAQ:VCAT), from July 1999 to November 2000. Mr. Sabnani assisted in raising over $200 million in
public equity financing for these companies, and served as the chief strategist and communicator for these businesses
during his tenure with each. In addition, Mr. Sabnani has served as chairman of the board of two distinguished
non-profits: Artwallah (arts festival); and TiE SoCal (venture capital networking).Mr. Sabnani was also the founder of
a California charity, EndDependence (scholarships for addiction treatment). Mr. Sabnani received his BA in English
Literature from UCLA in 1999. Mr. Sabnani is not an officer or director of any other reporting company.
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Richard Corredera. Richard Corredera is our Chief Financial Officer since July 16, 2015. Mr. Corredera has
approximately 18 years of experience in software engineering, systems design and business development. From April
2012 to the present, Mr. Corredera has served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Plaor where he managed
the business operations of Plaor including business development, compliance, and accounting in addition to
overseeing its strategic technology development. Prior to Plaor, Richard co-founded DoubleTap Games and was a
technical director at THQ’s Helixe development studio and Sony Online Entertainment from 2002 to 2012. Mr.
Corredera is a certified management accountant (CMA) and an enrolled agent (EA). Mr. Corredera is not an officer or
director of any other reporting company.

James A. Sacks. Mr. Sacks has been a member of our Board of Directors since September 2008. Mr. Sacks founded
JAS Holdings in 2001, which provides contract sales services for medical business process outsourcing providers.
From 1995 to 2000, Mr. Sacks was a registered securities principal for Joseph Charles & Associates. From 2000 to
2001, he served as a principal and the corporate secretary for Metropolitan Capital Partners. In 2002, he also served
as a registered securities principal for West Park Capital. Mr. Sacks is not an officer or director of any other reporting
company.

Chuck Timpe. Mr. Timpe has been a member of our Board of Directors since May 2009. Mr. Timpe is a seasoned
director and financial executive and served as a director and chairman of the audit committee from 1998 to November
2015 for IPC The Hospitalist Company and as an advisor to CrowdGather since October 2008. From June 2003 to
November 2008, Mr. Timpe served as the chief financial officer of Hythiam, Inc. (now Catasys Inc.; CATS—OTC BB).
Prior to joining Hythiam, Mr. Timpe was chief financial officer, from its inception in February 1998 to June 2003, of
Protocare, Inc., a clinical research and pharmaceutical outsourcing company which merged with Radiant Research,
Inc. in March 2003. Previously, he was a principal in two private healthcare management consulting firms he
co-founded, chief financial officer of National Pain Institute, treasurer and corporate controller for American Medical
International, Inc. (now Tenet Healthcare Corp.; THC—NYSE), and a member of Arthur Andersen, LLP’s healthcare
practice, specializing in public company and hospital system audits. Mr. Timpe is currently a business consultant.

Mr. Timpe received his B.S. from University of Missouri, School of Business and Public Administration, and is a
certified public accountant (retired).

Hazim Ansari. Mr. Ansari has been a member of our Board of Directors since May 2014. Mr Ansari is a specialist in
the offshore intellectual property industry and a successful entrepreneur. For the past twelve years, Mr. Ansari has
acted as CEO of NovellP and has advised numerous emerging companies on their patent portfolios. He has negotiated
licensing deals with over 50 universities and various U.S. government agencies, including the first ever privately held
corporate consortium to conduct medical research using antimatter. In 2002, Hazim founded PatentMetrix, now
named Novel IP, based in Delhi, India and was one of the first to use this high quality, cost-effective labor base to
deliver patent services, such as mapping markets to help companies proactively manage patent infringement risk and
building multi-institutional collaborations to further technology development.
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Prior to founding PatentMetrix, Mr. Ansari was an executive at the Tomorrow Factory, a B2B software company,
where he was appointed CEO by the Board of Directors, and successfully restructured the company for merger
opportunities. Before joining Tomorrow Factory, Mr. Ansari was an intellectual property attorney in O'Melveny &
Myers' Newport Beach office where he represented numerous high technology companies in the negotiation of
intellectual property licensing and acquisition deals, filing and prosecution of patent portfolios, structuring of
co-development and co-exploitation vehicles, and general management of intellectual property assets. Mr. Ansari
began his intellectual property career as an associate at Christie, Parker & Hale. He graduated magna cum laude from
Loyola Law School of Los Angeles and received his B.S. in Chemical Engineering from Stanford University.

Term of Office. All directors hold office until the completion of their term of office, which is not longer than one
year, or until their successors have been elected. All officers are appointed annually by the Board of Directors and,
subject to employment agreements, serve at the discretion of the board. Currently, directors receive no cash
compensation.

Family Relationships. There is no family relationship between any of our officers or directors.
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Involvement in Legal Proceedings. There are no orders, judgments, or decrees of any governmental agency or
administrator, or of any court of competent jurisdiction, revoking or suspending for cause any license, permit or other
authority to engage in the securities business or in the sale of a particular security or temporarily or permanently
restraining any of our officers or directors from engaging in or continuing any conduct, practice or employment in
connection with the purchase or sale of securities, or convicting such person of any felony or misdemeanor involving
a security, or any aspect of the securities business or of theft or of any felony. Nor are any of the officers or directors
of any corporation or entity affiliated with us so enjoined.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance .. We believe that our officers, directors, and principal
shareholders have filed all reports required to be filed on, respectively, a Form 3 ( Initial Statement of Beneficial

Ownership of Securities ), a Form 4 ( Statement of Changes of Beneficial Ownership of Securities ), or a Form 5 (
Annual Statement of Beneficial Ownership of Securities ).

Director Independence. We believe that James A. Sacks, Chuck Timpe and Hazim Ansari are independent
members of our Board of Directors as that term is defined by defined in Rule 4200(a)(15) of the Nasdaq Marketplace
Rules.

Board Committees. Our Board of Directors does not currently have a compensation committee or nominating and
corporate governance committee because, due to the Board of Director’s composition and our relatively limited
operations, the Board of Directors is able to effectively manage the issues normally considered by such committees.
Our Board of Directors may undertake a review of the need for these committees in the future. Security holders may
send communications to our Board of Directors by writing to 20300 Ventura Blvd. Suite 330, Woodland Hills, CA
91364, attention Board of Directors.

Audit Committee and Financial Expert. On November 19, 2010, we adopted an Audit Committee Charter and
appointed Chuck Timpe and James Sacks as members of the Audit Committee. Chuck Timpe is our Audit Committee
chairman and financial expert.

Our Audit Committee is responsible for: (1) selection and oversight of our independent accountant; (2) establishing
procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding accounting, internal controls and auditing
matters; (3) establishing procedures for the confidential, anonymous submission by our employees of concerns
regarding accounting and auditing matters; (4) engaging outside advisors; and, (5) approving fees for the independent
auditor and any outside advisors engaged by the audit committee. The Audit Committee Charter is filed as Exhibit
99.2 to our Report on Form 8-K filed on November 22, 2011.
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Code of Ethics. On November 19, 2010, we adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics (the “Ethics Code”) that applies to
our directors and employees, including our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer,
respectively. The Ethics Code is filed as Exhibit 14.1 to our Report on Form 8-K filed on November 22, 2010. A
written copy of the Code is available on our website at www.crowdgather.com ..

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Summary Compensation Table. The table set forth below summarizes the annual and long-term compensation for
services in all capacities to us payable to our principal executive officers during the years ending April 30, 2016 and
2015.

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
Non-Equity Nonqualified

Name and Year Stock Option Incentive Deferred All Other
.. Ended Salary Bonus . .To
Principal . AwardsAwardsPlan CompensatiGiompensatign
. April  $ $ . . §

Position $ $ Compensatibarnings $

30

$ $

Sanjay Sabnani CEO, 2016 240000 0 0 0 0 0 0 240,000
President, Secretary

2015 240,000 O 0 0 0 0 0 240,000
Richard Corredera, COO 2016 200,000 O 0 0 0 0 0 200,000

2015 200,000 O 0 0 0 0 0 200,00
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-end. As of April 30, 2016, the following named executive officers had
the following unexercised options, stock that has not vested, and equity incentive plan awards:

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive
Equity Plan Value
Number of Incentive Number Awardsof
o Numbetinearned
Securities Plan of Market of Shares
Underlying Awards:  Option Option Shares  Value of .
. ° #Un- . o . Unearnédhits
Name Unexercised . Number of Exercise Expiration or Units Shares or
; exercisable .. ) ) Shares, or
Options Securities  Price Date of Stock  Units Not .
. Units Other
# Underlying Not Vested .
. . or Rights
Exercisable Unexercised Vested
Options Other Not
p Rights Vested
Not
Nested

Sanjay Sabnani

CEO, President, 400,000 O 400,000 $1.49 06/20/2018 O 0 0 0
and Secretary

Sanjay Sabnani

CEO, President, 50,000 150,000 200,000 $1.16 03/21/2021 0 0 0 0
and Secretary

Sanjay Sabnani

CEO, President, 500,000 0 500,000 $0.044 05/31/2023 0 0 0 0
and Secretary

Sanjay Sabnani

CEOQ, President, 0 0 0 0 - 250,000 $25,000 0 0
and Secretary
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All of the options specified above vest as follows: 1/8 of total vests after 180 days after grant; remaining to vest at the
rate of 1/16 of the total every 90 days thereafter, over 4 years. The options granted expire 10 years after the date of
grant.

The restricted common stock awards vest 25% per year for 4 years.

There were no exercises of stock options by our above named executive officers during the year ended April 30, 2016.

Director Compensation. Our directors received the following compensation for their service as directors during the
fiscal year ended April 30, 2016:

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
. Non-Qualified

Fees Stock Option Non—Egmty Deferred All Other

Earned or Incentive Plan . . Total
Name . Awards Awards . Compensation Compensation

Paid in Compensation . $

$ $ Earnings $

Cash $ $
Sanjay Sabnani, director 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
James Sacks, director 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Chuck Timpe, director 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Hazim Ansari, director 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The table below shows the number of our shares of common stock beneficially owned as of April 30, 2016 by:

-each person or group known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our outstanding common stock;
-each director;
each executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table under the heading “Executive Compensation”
'above; and
-all of our current directors and executive officers as a group.
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The number of shares beneficially owned by each 5% holder, director or executive officer is determined by the rules
of the SEC, and the information does not necessarily indicate beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Under such
rules, beneficial ownership includes any shares over which the person or entity has sole or shared voting power or
investment power and also any shares that the person or entity can acquire within 60 days of April 30, 2016 through
the exercise of any stock option or other right. For purposes of computing the percentage of outstanding shares of
common stock held by each person or entity, any shares that the person or entity has the right to acquire within 60
days after April 30, 2016 are deemed to be outstanding with respect to such person or entity but are not deemed to be
outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage of ownership of any other person or entity. Unless otherwise
indicated, each person or entity has sole investment and voting power (or shares such power with his or her spouse)
over the shares set forth in the following table. The inclusion in the table below of any shares deemed beneficially
owned does not constitute an admission of beneficial ownership of those shares.
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) Name and Address of Beneficial Amount and Nature of Percent of
Title of Class .. Class
Owner Beneficial Owner 3)
Sanjay Sabnani 18,887,493 shares (1)
g&?ﬁ“"“ 20300 Ventura Blvd, Suite 330 gfegs’ PreSIdzm’ Secretary, 15.40 %
Woodland Hills, CA 91364 feasureran
director
Common Typhoon Capital Consultants, LLC 16,210,550 shares
Stock (2) 19069 Braemore Road Beneficial Owner 13.34 %
Northridge, California 91326
Richard Corredera
gt‘(’)‘éllinon c/o 20300 Ventura Blvd., Suite 330 é,gg(;,CS(S)Ooshares 1.94 %
Woodland Hills, California 91364
James A. Sacks
gg:lino“ c/o 20300 Ventura Blvd., Suite 330 7Dlif£?00r shares(6) *
Woodland Hills, California 91364
Chuck Timpe
gt‘(’)‘:lin"“ c/o 20300 Ventura Blvd., Suite 330 %ﬁ?ég?oor shares (7) *
Woodland Hills, California 91364
Hazim Ansari
gt‘(’)‘:linon c/o 20300 Ventura Blvd., Suite 330 %;iiiifo shares (8) *
Woodland Hills, California 91364
Peter Lee
ggéllin on Evelyn Tower, 14 th Floor, Flat E 7B,Sr?e7f’i7c?§l Sélirs:r@) *
North Point, Hong Kong
Pabos LLC (10)
gt‘(’)flinon 111 N Sepulveda Blvd Suite 336 ‘];gf jécf :fosvkv’izs (10) 33.35 %
Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
Vinay Holdings Ltd
Common PO Box 983 Victoria 19,677,870 shares (1) 14.14 %
Stock Beneficial Owner
Mahe, Seycheles
Common All directors and named executive officers as a 24,389,173 shares 21.45 %
Stock group

* Denotes less than 1%.

(1) Includes 16,210,550 shares, which are held by Typhoon Capital Consultants, LLC, of which Sanjay Sabnani is the
beneficial owner, 391,945 shares, which are held by Sabnani IRA, of which Sanjay Sabnani is the beneficial owner,
1,100,000 shares of common stock underlying options granted to Mr. Sabnani, 250,000 restricted common shared
awarded to Mr. Sabnani, 34,998 shares issued in relation to the Plaor merger, and 900,000 shares held by Sabnani
Children Income Trust, of which Sanjay Sabnani may be deemed to have beneficial ownership due to his spouse’s role
as sole trustee for this trust. Mr. Sabnani disclaims beneficial ownership of those 900,000 shares, except as to his
pecuniary interest therein.
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(2) Sanjay Sabnani holds voting and dispositive power over the shares of Typhoon Capital Consultants, LL.C.
(3) Based on 121,536,572 common shares issued as of April 30, 2016.

(6) Includes 295,000 shares of restricted common stock held of record by James A. Sacks, 500,000 shares of common
stock underlying options granted to Mr. Sacks.

(7) Includes 20,000 shares of common stock held of record by Chuck Timpe, 620,000 shares of common stock
underlying options granted to Chuck Timpe and 200,000 shares of restricted common stock awarded to Mr. Timpe.

(8) Includes 3,545,850 shares, which are held by NKS Group, Inc. Hazim Ansari holds voting and dispositive power
over the shares of NKS Group, Inc.

(9) Includes 1,003,000 shares of common stock held of record by Mr. Lee, 194,738 shares of common stock held of
record by Mr. Lee’s personal holding company, and 6,500,000 shares of common stock underlying warrants held by
Mr. Lee.

(10) Includes 1,878,840 shares held by CLEO. Bosko Djordjevic and Paul Schwartz share voting and dispositive
power over the shares held by Pabos LLC and CLEO.

(11) Includes 17,613,420 shares underlying convertible debt outstanding.
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Changes in Control. Our management is not aware of any arrangements which may result in “changes in control” as
that term is defined by the provisions of Item 403(c) of Regulation S-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Related party transactions.

During year ended April 30, 2015 the Company paid $32,800 for legal services provided by Mr. Hazim Ansari, which
the Company has identified to be a related party, as he later became a member of the Board of Directors.

The Company entered into two Promissory Note agreements with our CEO, Sanjay Sabnani on April 13, 2015 and
April 17, 2015. The face values of the notes respectively were $50,000 and $239,000 with a total aggregate amount of
$289,000. Each note carries an interest rate of 12% with the April 13, 2015 note due on April 13, 2016 and the April
17, 2015 note due on April 15, 2017. At this time the notes have accrued $29,000 of interest in addition to the
principle. Proceeds from the notes have been used to extinguish a convertible note due to KBM in addition to working
capital.

On September 15, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $10,000 received from Mr. James Sacks, a member of our
board. The proceeds were used for general working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the
$10,000 including interest at 12%. The note, including interest, was due March 13, 2016. Mr. Sacks has granted a
waiver of default and maturity date extension. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original
instrument according to ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments. The Note is now due April 15, 2017 with a
principal balance of $10,000.

On September 15, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $10,000 received from Mr. Hazim Ansari, a member of our
board. The proceeds were used for general working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the
$10,000 including interest at 12%. The note, including interest, was due March 13, 2016. Mr. Ansari has granted a
waiver of default and maturity date extension. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original
instrument according to ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments. The Note is now due April 15, 2017 with a
principal balance of $10,000.

On September 17, 2015, we issued a Promissory Note for $10,000 received from Mr. Richard Corredera, our CFO.
The proceeds were used for general working capital. Under the terms of the note, we agreed to repay the $10,000
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including interest at 12%. The note, including interest, was due March 15, 2016. Mr. Corredera has granted a waiver
of default and maturity date extension. We accounted for the extension as a modification of the original instrument
according to ASC 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments. The Note is now due April 15, 2017 with a principal
balance of $10,000.

Director Independence. We believe that James A. Sacks, Chuck Timpe and Hazim Ansari are independent
members of our Board of Directors using the definition of independence under the rules of the SEC.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Audit Fees. The aggregate fees billed in each of the fiscal years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 for professional
services rendered by the principal accountant for the audit of our annual financial statements and quarterly review of
the financial statements included in our Form 10-K or services that are normally provided by the accountant in
connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those fiscal years were approximately $45,000
and $45,000, respectively.

Audit-Related Fees. For each of the fiscal years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, there were no fees billed for services
reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the financial statements outside of those fees disclosed
above under “Audit Fees.”

70

139



Edgar Filing: CrowdGather, Inc. - Form 10-K

All Other Fees. None.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures. Prior to engaging our accountants to perform a particular service, our Board
of Directors obtains an estimate for the service to be performed. All of the services described above were approved by
the Board of Directors in accordance with its procedures.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a)Financial Statements.

Included in Item 8

(b) Exhibits required by Item 601.

Exhibit
No.

2.1

2.2

3.1
32
33
34

3.5

3.6
3.7
10.1
10.2
10.3
104

Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among WestCoast Golf Experiences, Inc., General Mayhem LLC and
General Mayhem Acquisition Corp., dated April 2, 2008 (1)

Agreement of Merger and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated April 8, 2008 by and between WestCoast
Golf Experiences, Inc., a Nevada corporation and General Mayhem Acquisition Corp., a Nevada corporation
ey

Articles of Incorporation (2)

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (3)

Bylaws of the Company (2)

Certificate of Designation of the Relative Rights and Preferences of the Series A Preferred Stock (4)
Certificate of Change in number of authorized shares as filed with the Secretary of State of Nevada on March
27,2008 (1)

Articles of Merger as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada on April 8, 2008 (1)

Certificate of Designation of the Relative Rights and Preferences of the Series B Preferred Stock (13)

2008 Stock Option Plan (5)

Agreement and Plan of Merger with Adisn, Inc. (6)

Securities Escrow Agreement (6)
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Asset Purchase Agreement and Plan of Reorganization with Team Awesome Productions, Inc. d/b/a Lefora
dated July 23, 2010 (7)

10.5 Software License Agreement with Team Awesome Productions, Inc. d/b/a Lefora dated July 23, 2010 (7)

10.6 Securities Purchase Agreement dated February 28, 2011 (8)

10.7 Engagement Agreement dated February 22, 2011 (8)

10.8 Registration Rights Agreement dated February 28, 2011 (8)

10.9 Form of Warrant (8)

10.1 Stock Cancellation and Stipulation Agreement dated December 9, 2010 (9)

10.11  Website and Domain Name Purchase and Sale Agreement with PbNation, LLC (10)

10.12  Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (13)

10.13  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (13)

10.14  Form of Amended and Restated Warrant (14)

10.15 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (14)

10.16  Web Site Purchase Agreement with VerticalScope, Inc. dated March 16, 2014(15)

10.17  Executive Employment Agreement with Sanjay Sabnani dated March 17, 2014 (15)

10.18  Web Site Purchase Agreement with VerticalScope, Inc. dated April 27, 2014 (16)
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10.19 Agreement and Plan of Merger with Plaor and Plaor Acquisition Corp.(17)
10.20 Form of Lock Up Agreement (18)
10.21 Domain Name Acquisition Agreement with Hollywood Casinos LLC (19)
Convertible Promissory Note and Securities Purchase Agreements with KBM Worldwide, Inc. dated October
10.22
20, 2014 (20)
10.23 Form of Note and Warrant Purchase Agreements dated November 20, 2014 and November 21, 2014 (21)
10.24 Form of Exchange Agreement dated December 1, 2014 (22)
Convertible Promissory Note and Securities Purchase Agreements with KBM Worldwide, Inc. dated January
10.25
23,2015 (23)
10.26 Equity Purchase Agreement with Aladdin Trading, LLC dated January 30, 2015 (24)
Convertible Promissory Note and Note Purchase Agreements with Iconic Holdings, LLC dated February 13,
10.27
2015 (25)
10.28 Convertible Promissory Note, Warrant Purchase, and Securities Purchase Agreements with Typenex
" Co-Investing, LLC dated March 2, 2015 (26)
10.29 Convertible Promissory Note with JMJ Financial dated March 24, 2015 (27)
10.30 Note Purchase Agreement with CrowdGather, Inc CEO Sanjay Sabnani dated April 13, 2015 (28)
10.31 Note Purchase Agreement with CrowdGather, Inc CEO Sanjay Sabnani dated April 17, 2015 (29)
10.32 Convertible Promissory Note with Vinay Holdings dated May 4, 2015 (30)
10.33 Convertible Promissory Note with Vinay Holdings dated June 5, 2015 (31)
14 Code of Ethics (11)
23.1 Consent of Q Accountancy Corporation *
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Required by Rule 13a-14(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of

311 1934, As Amended, As Adopted Pursuant To Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 *

312 Certification of Principal Financial Officer, Required By Rule 13a-14(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of
™ 1934, As Amended, As Adopted Pursuant To Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 *

301 Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
" Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 *

329 Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 *
99.1 Press Release Dated July 6, 2015*
(1)  Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 8, 2008.
(2)  Included as exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form SB-2 filed on June 20, 2005.
(3) Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2008.
(4)  Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 28, 2010.
(5) Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2008.
(6)  Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 10, 2010.
(7)  Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 26, 2010.
(8)  Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2011.
(9) Included as exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Amendment No. 1 filed on May 5, 2011
(10) Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 25, 2011.
(11) Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 22, 2010.
(12) Included as exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed July 7, 2010.
(13) Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 9, 2013.
(14) Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 18, 2013.
(15) Included as exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on March 17, 2014
(16) Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 1, 2014
(17) Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 5, 2014
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Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 20, 2014
Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 1, 2014
Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 24,
2014

Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 26,
2014

Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 5,
2014

Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 23,
2015

Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 5,
2015

Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 20,
2015

Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 6, 2015
Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 27,
2015

Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 17, 2015
Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 22, 2015
Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 6, 2015
Included as exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 9, 2015
Filed Herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CrowdGather, Inc.
a Nevada corporation

January 10, 2017 By:/s/ Sanjay Sabnani
Its: Sanjay Sabnani
CEO, President, Secretary and a director
(Principal Executive Officer)

January 10, 2017 By:/s/ Richard Corredera
Its: Richard Corredera
Chief Financial Officer

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

By:/s/ Sanjay Sabnani January 10, 2017
Sanjay Sabnani

Its: CEO, President, Secretary and a director
(Principal Executive Officer)

By:/s/ Jonathan Dariyanani January 10, 2017
Jonathan Dariyanani
Its: Director

By:/s/ James Sacks January 10, 2017
James Sacks
Its director

By:/s/ Chuck Timpe January 10, 2017

Chuck Timpe
Its: director
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By:/s/ Hazim Ansari January 10, 2017
Hazim Ansari
Its: director
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